#### THE EFFECT OF ELECTRICAL STIMULATION ON AGED SKELETAL MUSCLE REGENERATIVE POTENTIAL

by

#### **Ricardo J. Ferrari**

BS in Physical Therapy, Universidade de Ribeirao Preto, UNAERP, 2000

MSc in Muscular Plasticity, Universidade Metodista de Piracicaba, UNIMEP, 2004

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2015

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

#### SCHOOL OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATION SCIENCES

This dissertation was presented

by

Ricardo J. Ferrari

It was defended on

May 02, 2016

and approved by

Michael L. Boninger, MD, Professor and Endowed Chair, Department of Physical Medicine

& Rehabilitation, Director, UPMC Rehabilitation Institute (CommitteeChair)

Patrick Sparto, PT, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Physical Therapy

Martin K. Childers, PhD, DO, Professor, Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, University

of Washington

Fabrisia Ambrosio, MPT, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Physical Medicine &

Rehabilitation

Copyright © by Ricardo Ferrari

2016

#### THE EFFECT OF ELECTRICAL STIMULATION ON AGED SKELETAL MUSCLE REGENERATIVE POTENTIAL

Ricardo J. Ferrari, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2016

Increasing age typically results in a decreased skeletal muscle regenerative capacity after injury, a decreased muscle mass and weakness, ultimately resulting in an increased likelihood for falls, susceptibility to recurrent injury, and a prolonged recovery. In response to injury, aged muscle displays a decreased capacity to regenerate damaged myofibers. Instead, the repair response is characterized by fibrotic accumulation, a response that has been attributed to dysfunction of the muscle stem cell (MuSC) population. MuSCs are a reserve cell population that plays a central role in dictating muscle regeneration. Muscle contractile activity, elicited by exercise or electrical stimulation, for example, has been suggested to be an important intervention to increase blood flow to the injury area and to promote the activation of muscle MuSCs. The purpose of this study is to test the hypothesis that neuromuscular electrical stimulation (Estim) inhibits activation of the muscle progenitor cell (MPC) fibrogenic molecular program to enhance skeletal muscle

regeneration in aged animals. MPCs represent a heterogenous myogenic cell population, the majority of which are MuSCs. Our *in vivo* studies demonstrate that two weeks of Estim enhances myofiber regeneration and increases tetanic force recovery in aged muscles after an acute injury. *In vitro*, we find that improved muscle regeneration in aged muscle following the application of Estim is concomitant with a rejuvenated MPC phenotype. Our results further suggest that the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC regenerative potential may be mediated by up-regulation of the anti-aging protein, Klotho. Taken together, these data provide evidence that Estim is a safe and effective method and to improve functional recovery after an acute injury in aged muscle. It is anticipated that findings from this study will aid in the development of clinically relevant rehabilitation programs to enhance the muscle healing response in a geriatric population.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACEXII						
1.0		NTRODUCTION1				
-	1.1	STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM1				
-	1.2	BACKGROUND				
		.2.1 Skeletal muscle regeneration				
		1.2.1.1 Aged-related declines in skeletal muscle regeneration				
		1.2.1.2 The molecular basis for age-related declines in skeletal muscle				
		regeneration after injury8				
		1.2.1.3 Modulation of the microenvironment and its role in aged-related				
		declines in muscle regeneration1				
		.2.2 Klotho as a mediator of tissue regeneration and stem cell functionality 13				
		.2.3 Modulation of the skeletal muscle microenvironment through mechanical				
		stimulation				
		.2.4 Electrical stimulation as a viable modality to promote MuSC myogenicity				
		and counteract muscle regenerative deficits in aged animals				
-	1.3	SIGNIFICANCE19				
-	1.4	INNOVATION				
	1.5	AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS				

	1.5.1	Specific aims and hypothesis of study 1 21
	1.5.2	Specific aim and hypothesis of study 2 22
2.0	NEUR	OMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION REJUVENATES THE
REGEN	ERATIV	YE POTENTIAL OF AGED MUSCLE PROGENITOR CELLS
2.1	SU	J <b>MMARY</b>
2.2	IN	TRODUCTION
2.3	Μ	ETHODS
	2.3.1	Skeletal muscle injury
	2.3.2	Electrical stimulation (Estim) protocol
	2.3.3	In situ contractile testing
	2.3.4	Histology and immunofluorescence29
	2.3.5	MPC isolation
	2.3.6	Metabolic activity (MTS) assay
	2.3.7	Senescence associated SA- $\beta$ -Galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -Gal) activity assay 31
	2.3.8	MPC myogenicity
	2.3.9	Wnt signaling activation
	2.3.10	Immunocytochemistry protocol to evaluate Wnt and Klotho
	2.3.11	siRNA Klotho knockdown
	2.3.12	Statistical analysis
2.4	R	ESULTS

		2.4.1	Estim enhances myofiber regeneration and force recovery in aged skelet	al
		muscle	after an acute injury3	37
		2.4.2	Estim rejuvenates the aged MPCs phenotype 4	13
		2.4.3	Estim modulates Wnt signaling/β-Catenin pathway in aged MPCs 4	17
		2.4.4	MPCs display an aged-related decrease in Klotho expression, but Estim	m
		restores	expression to youthful levels 4	19
	2.5	DI	SCUSSION5	56
		2.5.1	Limitations	50
	2.6	CO	ONCLUSION	51
3.0		SIGNIE	ICANCE AND DIRECTION OF FUTURE RESEARCH	52
AP	PENI	DIX A		57
BIF	BLIO	GRAPHY	Υ	<b>58</b>

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Contractile characteristics	42
Table 2 In vivo outcomes	67
Table 3 In vitro outcomes	67

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. MuSC responses after myotrauma
Figure 2. Canonical Wnt signaling pathway10
Figure 3. Hypothesis schematic
Figure 4 - Gating strategy for sorting of MuSCs from the MPC population
Figure 5. Effect of pre-treatment Estim on the total number fiber and cross sectional area in aged
mice
Figure 6 Effect of pre-treatment Estim on the percentage of scar tissue formation in aged mice 39
Figure 7 In situ contractile testing of the lower leg anterior compartment
Figure 8 FACS sorting for 106+ cells to isolate pure MPCs population
Figure 9 Effect of Estim on MPC myogenicity 44
Figure 10. Metabolic viability assay of MPCs
Figure 11 Estim decreases the percentage of senescent cells in aged MPCs
Figure 12 Estim modulates Wnt/β-Catenin pathway
Figure 13 Klotho expression after skeletal muscle injury 50
Figure 14 Estim restores the expression of longevity protein, Klotho, in aged MPCs51
Figure 15 Silencing Klotho in Young Control and Aged Estim MPCs increases levels of $\beta$ -catenin
53

#### PREFACE

After these long and intense years of doctoral training, I learned one important lesson: that I was never alone during this journey. I had the opportunity to meet and work with people from different countries, with diverse personalities and thoughts. I learned a lot. I was disappointed many times. But, in general, the happy moments far outnumbered the sad moments. During this seemingly infinite road, several people walked with me and helped to make this dream come true. For this reason, I would like to say 'thank you' to each of you for your kindness, motivation, and love.

I would like to thank the members of my dissertation committee: Drs. Michael Boninger, Fabrisia Ambrosio, Patrick Sparto, and Martin Childers for your precious time and contributions in the development of this research project. To my mentor, Michael Boninger, for giving me the opportunity to pursue this degree at one of the best departments in USA. My special thanks to my academic advisor, Fabrisia Ambrosio, for believing in my potential and work. Thanks for your support and guidance during these years.

I would like to say thank you to all of my coworkers (Josh Plassmeyer, Elke Brown, Keith Avin, Kristen Stearns, Amrita Sahu and Sunita Shinde), collaborator (Dr. Aaron Barchowsky), and technician (Callen Wallace) for your help and support. A big thanks to my friends from the PT department (Dr. Gustavo Almeida and Samannaazz Khoja) for your support and friendship. Also, I cannot forget to say thanks to my Brazilian friends. Though they were not with me everyday, they were always ready to help me out anytime.

I am eternally grateful for the support of my amazing family. To my parents, Antonio e Arlete for your unconditional love and prayers. You made me to believe that everything is possible when we have perseverance and faith. This PhD is for you. To my sisters- and brothers-in-laws, who have supported and cheered for me many times. To my in laws, Miriam and Roberto, for all of your help, dedication and love for us.

Finally, I want to express my sincere appreciation for all of the love and inspiration from my wife, Giovanna. You are the reason of my life, for which I will fight and protect my whole life. Thank you for your patience, for encouraging me, and for making me believe that everything is possible when we have love and respect. You are an amazing wife, mother, and scientist. Love you! To my son, Vittorio, who brings happiness and light to my life. Love you big guy!

Thank you God for being a lamp unto my feet and a light unto my path.

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM**

Age-related skeletal muscle weakness and impairment in regenerative capacity following injury is a major contributor to declines in functional mobility and is associated with an increased morbidity in an elderly population (1-4). Muscle wasting and weakness resulting from sarcopenia can increase the risk for subsequent injury, leading to dramatic declines in mobility that may ultimately deprive a person of functional independence (1, 5). In addition to sarcopenia—an age-related decrease in skeletal muscle mass—the capability of skeletal muscle to repair itself after injury is typically impaired, and functional recovery is often impeded by fibrotic tissue formation (1). As the number of elderly individuals in the United States grows at an escalating rate, such detriments increasingly represent an important public health burden. For an elderly individual who is already weak, a failed regenerative response following an injury may mean the difference between independence and going to a nursing home.

Age-related impairment- and functional-level declines are a clear manifestation of underlying tissue and cellular dysfunction. After muscle injury, muscle stem (satellite) cells (MuSCs) exit their normally quiescent state, proliferate, and fuse to form new myofibers. However, there is a decline in the activation, proliferation, and differentiation of MuSCs over time (6-8). An increased understanding of the cellular signaling pathways responsible for regenerative decline in aged muscle is of considerable interest toward the development of clinical programs designed to counteract the effect of age on skeletal muscle healing capacity.

Recent studies have demonstrated that MuSC behavior, and, ultimately, skeletal muscle regenerative capacity is largely dependent on characteristics of the microenvironment, or niche. Data from *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that, when MuSCs are isolated from aged muscle and cultured in serum obtained from young animals, MuSCs demonstrate an enhanced myogenicity (9). Conversely, when MuSCs isolated from young muscle are cultured in the presence of serum derived from aged animals, MuSCs demonstrate an increased fibrogenic fate (10). These data suggest that systemic factors play an important role in the functional capacity of MuSCs, further implicating the microenvironment as a target for the development of approaches to enhance aged muscle regeneration.

Modulation of the microenvironment through muscle loading—via endurance exercise training, for example—has been shown to be beneficial for skeletal muscle adaptations such as changes in muscle fiber type and fiber area, angiogenesis, and the secretion of myogenically favorable growth factors (11, 12). Evidence further suggests that mechanical stimuli via downhill treadmill running promotes MuSCs myogenicity and may be an effective and practical intervention strategy to prevent and/or reverse the cellular and molecular alterations associated with impaired repair of aged muscle (13). However, little is known about the ability of muscle contractile activity to reverse the effect of age on declines in muscle regenerative capacity. A better mechanistic understanding of how muscle loading may optimize MuSC functioning is an essential step in the development of rehabilitation approaches to prevent and/or improve muscle healing in aged population.

#### **1.2 BACKGROUND**

#### 1.2.1 Skeletal muscle regeneration

Skeletal muscle injuries are a common problem in trauma and orthopedic surgery. In cases of relatively minor injuries, young healthy skeletal muscle possesses a great ability to fully recover the architecture and contractile function (14). The regeneration of skeletal muscle after injury comprises several coordinated and overlapping phases, including (1) degeneration, (2) inflammation, (3) regeneration and, finally, (4) fibrosis (15).

#### The Degenerative Phase

The degenerative phase of the muscle repair process starts in the first few days post-injury. It is characterized by disruption of sarcolemma, which results in an influx of calcium and cell death (10). Increased vascular permeability and blood flow results in hematoma formation and edema accumulation (16). Within a few hours after injury, inflammatory cells (leukocytes, monocyte-lymphocyte, and macrophages) invade to the injury area. Macrophages initiate phagocytosis of the injured region, resulting in a "ghost-like" and "moth-eaten" appearance of the muscle fiber, (17). These ghost fibers are important to guide and recruit the regenerating cells into position (18). In addition, degrading myofibers become denervated through destruction of intramuscular nerve branches (19).

#### The Inflammatory Phase

The inflammatory phase generally peaks within 24-48 hours after injury. During the inflammatory phase, macrophages and neutrophils are activated to eliminate the necrotic tissue and prepare the tissue for the regeneration phase. During this phase, growth factors are released, which affect the regenerative microenvironment and contribute to the symptomatology of muscle injuries, including pain and swelling (20). Inflammation is a critical step in the regenerative process, and studies have demonstrated that inhibition of the inflammatory phase, through non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) administration, for example, dramatically impairs muscle-healing (20, 21). Though studies using NSAIDS demonstrate a decrease in inflammation and pain shortly after muscle injury, investigators have observed long-term residual deficits in muscle functional capacity and muscle healing (21). Clearly, prostaglandins play a well-established role in dictating MuSC proliferation and regenerative potential, and their inhibition is problematic for effective muscle healing (22, 23).

It is hypothesized that the interruption of growth factor secretion associated with inhibition of inflammation, such as Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1), basic Fibroblast Growth Factor (bFGF), Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF), and Transforming Growth Factor Beta-1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1), contributes to the regenerative defect following NSAIDs administration (20). However, supplementation with growth factors, including IGF-1, bFGF, and nerve growth factor (NGF) has been shown to dramatically enhance the healing process after muscle injury (24, 25). These growth factors have also been shown to play a critical role in regulating muscle stem cell (MuSC) proliferation and differentiation during regeneration (26)

#### The Regenerative Phase

The regenerative phase is subsequently triggered by growth factor secretion. The primary cells regulating the skeletal muscle regenerative response are MuSCs. MuSCs are located between the basal lamina and the plasma membrane, and normally reside in a quiescent state (27)(Figure1). Upon activation, MuSCs enter a phase of proliferative expansion. A critical aspect of MuSC activation is that a portion of the activated MuSCs will return to a quiescent state, a process called "self renewal". Self-renewal is critical for maintenance of the stem cell reservoir, such that a pool of stem cells is available for future rounds of regeneration. Another portion of the activated cells will fuse to the existing damaged myofibers, or will fuse to produce nascent myofibers. The regenerating myofiber is characterized by centralized nuclei, which eventually migrate to the myofiber periphery. The regenerative phase typically peaks within 2 weeks after injury, and then gradually decreases.



#### Figure 1. MuSC responses after myotrauma.

#### The Fibrotic Phase

In cases of severe injury or when the regeneration process fails, such as with disease or aging, the formation of fibrosis is initiated. Fibrosis serves to fill in the gap and minimize further injury to the tissue. Fibrosis generally begins between the second and third weeks post injury (15). Although this scar tissue provides early support for the injury area, it becomes progressively dense over time, and ultimately may restrict the formation of regenerating myofibers (16). Transforming Growth Factor Beta-1 (TGF-β1) is considered to be a "master regulator" of fibrosis, and plays a role in the differentiation of myoblasts into a myofibroblast lineage (28). Several studies have demonstrated that inhibition of TGF- $\beta$ 1 promotes an enhanced myofiber regeneration and muscle recovery (24, 29, 30). Sato and colleagues demonstrated that a combination treatment of IGF-1 and Decorin (a TGF- $\beta$ 1 antagonist), administered 1, 3, or 5 days post-laceration, improved both histological and contractile characteristics of skeletal muscle 4 weeks after injury (24). Another study demonstrated that scar tissue formation after muscle laceration was effectively inhibited with the use of Suramin, another TGF- $\beta$ 1 inhibitor (31). These are just a few of the several existing studies demonstrating that inhibition of skeletal muscle fibrosis significantly improves functional regeneration after a severe muscle injury.

#### Vascularization and reinnervation of injured muscle

Most traumatic muscle injuries will also involve vascular and neural tissues. As such, the importance of restoration of these structures after an acute injury cannot be discounted. Both nerves and vessels have been shown to play a critical role in the regenerative cascade and

maturation of myotubes into myofibers (32). Nascent capillaries are necessary to provide adequate oxygen supply to area of injury area, subsequently supporting aerobic energy metabolism for the regenerating myofibers. Christov and colleagues (2007) observed a tight relationship between MuSCs and capillaries, and found that most resident MuSCs are juxtaposed with capillaries (33). In cases of myopathy, which display a decrease in myofiber capillarization, there is a concomitant decrease in the number of MuSCs per myofiber (34). Conversely, the skeletal muscle of healthy athletes displays an increased myofiber capillarization that is strongly correlated with an increased number of MuSCs (33).

Finally, another important aspect of muscle regeneration is the myofiber reinnervation. Reinnervation is required both to prevent myofiber atrophy and restore functional capacity (15). Indeed, non-innervated regenerating fibers remain both functionally and histochemically immature (33). During regeneration, the neuromuscular junction is a tightly regulated and consists of two principal phases of repair. First, the ingrowth of nerves is stimulated by either outgrowth from the cut ends of nerves leading to the muscle, or by the sprouting of nerves into regenerating fibers (33). In the second phase, the regenerating nerves form functional neuromuscular junctions (33). Ingrowing nerve fibers have a strong predilection for settling down at the sites of previous neuromuscular junction (35).

#### 1.2.1.1 Aged-related declines in skeletal muscle regeneration

Like most tissues, aging results in a dramatic decrease in skeletal muscle regenerative capacity, and the regenerative response becomes characterized by an increased fibrosis and adipose tissue accumulation (8). In addition, aging has been associated with a decrease in skeletal muscle capillarity, owing, at least in part, to decreased expression of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) levels, important for both for angiogenesis and for guiding MuSC responses (36).

As described above, the ability of skeletal muscle to repair itself after injury is largely dependent on the action of MuSCs. However, with aging, a multitude of compromised MuSC responses ensue. Almost four decades ago, Snow (1977) observed a dramatic decrease in the number of MuSCs in aged skeletal muscle, when compared to young adult counterparts (37). This is consistent with more recent studies demonstrating that aged MuSCs demonstrate a dramatically decreased proliferative potential (38). In addition, MuSCs derived from aged skeletal muscle display a predisposition to differentiate toward a fibrogenic lineage, as opposed to the desirable myogenic cell fate (39). It is this myogenic-to-fibrogenic conversion that is hypothesized to underlie the increased fibrosis formation following injury in aged skeletal muscle. Taken together, these age-related alterations lead to a dramatically impaired regenerative capacity and functional recovery after a severe muscle injury (40).

# 1.2.1.2 The molecular basis for age-related declines in skeletal muscle regeneration after injury

Considerable progress was observed in the last decades in regards to our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying an age-related reduction in MuSCs function. There are many signaling pathways that have been implicated as playing major role in driving in age-related declines in muscle regenerative capacity. For example, <u>Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK)</u> is an important pathway that is stimulated in response to cytokines, growth factors, and cellular stress (41, 42). A recent study by Cosgrove et al (2014) demonstrated that aged MuSCs display an elevated p38 $\alpha/\beta$  MAPK activity, but that small molecule inhibition of p38 $\alpha/\beta$  MAPK inhibits

MuSCs senescence (33). Importantly, the beneficial effect of  $p38\alpha/\beta$  MAPK inhibition was only observed when cells were cultured in a soft matrix substrate. These findings suggest that both biochemical and biophysical cues are important for defining MuSC behavior.

Notch signaling, important for MuSCs activation, proliferation, and cell lineage specification, is another important pathway that has been shown to be dysregulated with increasing age. Decreased Notch activation contributes to the diminished regenerative capacity of aged muscle through an impaired MuSC proliferative capacity (8, 9). The progression of MuSCs from a phase of proliferative expansion to one of terminal differentiation is reliant on inhibition of the Notch signaling pathway by activation of the Wnt signaling pathway (33).

Activation of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway has been suggested to be essential for dictating MuSC fate (43-45). The canonical Wnt signaling cascade is activated when soluble Wnt ligands interact with Frizzle receptors as well as low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein co-receptors (LRP) at the cell surface. Frizzle receptor activation subsequently stimulates the phosphorylation of Disheveled and inactivates GSK3 $\beta$  phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin. These events lead to inhibition of Axin-mediated  $\beta$ -catenin phosphorylation, leading to the stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin, which then accumulates and translocates to the nucleus to form complexes with TCF/LEF for the activation of Wnt target gene expression (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Canonical Wnt signaling pathway

Schematic representation of the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin pathway. Off activation (left): In the absence of Wnt signal,  $\beta$ -Catenin is recruited into the APC/Axin2/GSK3 complex and phosphorylated by GSK3. As the result,  $\beta$ -Catenin is degraded, and  $\beta$ -Catenin fails to enter the nucleus. On Activation (right): Wnt binds the Frizzeled receptor and LRP co-receptor. Next, activated Disheveled leads to the inhibition of APC/Axin2/GSK3. Accumulated  $\beta$ -Catenin translocates to the nucleus and complexes with TCF/LEF, activating the canonical Wnt-target gene expression.

Recently, Murphy and colleagues demonstrated that, though Wnt signaling/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway is active in amplifying myoblasts, silencing of this pathway is absolutely critical for effective regeneration (46). Accordingly, with aging, MuSCs demonstrate an excessive activation of the Wnt signaling pathway, which has been shown to ultimately result in a dysfunctional myogenic capability and enhanced fibrosis deposition at the injury site (7). The ligands contributing to this

increased Wnt signaling activation in aged muscle have yet to be elucidated, but are believed to be present in the circulation (47).

## **1.2.1.3** Modulation of the microenvironment and its role in aged-related declines in muscle regeneration

It is clear that the microenvironment, or niche, is a potent regulator of MuSC regenerative potential within skeletal muscle. The niche is necessary for the maintenance of MuSC quiescence and it provides critical support of tissue homeostasis and regenerative capacity (32). In addition, the niche includes vascular components that are important to deliver homeostatic signals to MuSCs, such as secreted molecules and cellular contacts (48).

Indeed, modulation of microenvironment has the potential to dramatically alter the behavior of aged MuSCs. Studies have demonstrated that when aged MuSCs are exposed to a youthful microenvironment, regenerative potential is dramatically improved to levels comparable to young counterparts (7, 9). Moreover, this enhanced MuSC behavior is concomitant with an improved healing response (9, 39, 49). Carlson & Faulkner performed a series of experiments in which the extensor digitorum longus (EDL) muscle was heterochronically transplanted between young and old mice (ie. young muscle was transplanted into old hosts and old muscle was transplanted into young hosts) (49). The authors observed a significant improvement in contractile force and regeneration when old muscles were transplanted into young hosts (49). Conversely, both young and old muscles grafted in old hosts resulted in a dramatically decreased regeneration and force producing capacity of the transplanted muscle (33). Authors concluded that the poor regeneration of muscles in old animals may be related to an unsupportive microenvironment.

More recently, Brack et al demonstrated that MuSCs exposed *in vitro* to serum derived from young mice display a decreased Wnt signaling activation (as evidenced by an increased GSK3 $\beta$ , decreased Axin 2 and increased nuclear  $\beta$ -Catenin), as well as a concomitant increase in myogenic differentiation (7). Conversely, MuSCs exposed to old mouse serum display an increased Wnt signaling and increased fibrogenic conversion. The findings suggest that some serum component that is upregulated in the circulation of aged animals may be responsible for excessive Wnt signaling activation. Conversely, it is possible that some serum component found within young animals may be responsible for inhibition of the Wnt signaling cascade.

Translating these *in vitro* findings to an *in vivo* model, investigators next turned to a heterochronic parabiotic approach (7). In this approach, aged animals are surgically joined with young animals, resulting in a chimeric circulatory system. Consistent with in vitro findings where aged MuSCs exposed to young serum display an enhanced myogenicity, in vivo studies demonstrated decreased fibrosis and improved myogenesis of aged heterochronic parabionts. Interestingly, exposure of aged mice to a young circulation was concomitant with an increased Notch signaling (49) and a decreased Wnt signaling activation (7). Findings were further confirmed by Wagers et al. who similarly demonstrated the ability of heterochronic parabiosis to improve muscle healing in aged mice (33). In their study, Wagers and colleagues suggested that the beneficial effect of exposure of aged mice to a youthful circulation was owing to the circulating protein Growth Differentiation Factor 11 (GDF11) (33). Specifically, they found that mice displayed a decrease in circulating GDF11 with increasing age, but that supplementation with GDF11 in aged mice resulted in significantly improved muscle structure after injury, as well as an improved capacity for endurance exercise (50). These findings were recently refuted by Egerman et al., who observed that GDF11, a part of the TGF- $\beta$ 1 superfamily, actually increases in the

circulation of aged mice (51). Moreover, they found that GDF11 significantly inhibits MuSC proliferation and promotes fibrosis formation after injury (52).

Despite the ongoing debate, it is clear that systemic factors play a critical role in supporting MuSC regenerative potential and skeletal muscle healing (7, 9). Though the circulating factor(s) responsible for mediating the beneficial effect of exposure to a youthful systemic environment is/are still unknown, heterochronic parabiosis studies confirm that MuSCs display downstream, autonomous alterations that support a rejuvenated phenotype in aged muscle. Elucidation of the circulating protein(s) that is (are) modulated through the aging process would, therefore, be a major advance toward the development of approaches to enhance skeletal muscle regenerative capacity in an aged population.

#### 1.2.2 Klotho as a mediator of tissue regeneration and stem cell functionality

Klotho is circulating hormone that has been extensively investigated as playing an important role in regulating aged-declines. Klotho is an anti-aging protein predominantly produced in the kidney, but can be found small amounts in the brain, placenta, skeletal muscle, urinary bladder, aorta, colon, and pancreas (53-56). It serves as an aging suppressor protein through a variety of mechanisms, including anti-oxidation, anti-senescence, anti-autophagy, as well as modulation of signaling pathways associated with longevity, including Insulin Growth Factor (IGF) (53). Klotho has been found in the circulatory system of both animals and humans (57, 58), although it's serum concentration gradually declines with increasing age (57, 58). Mice deficient for Klotho display premature aging, and die at proximally 8-9 weeks of age (the typical lifespan of wild type mice is approximately 2.5-3 years) (54, 58). This decreased longevity is consistent with decreased physical activity, ectopic calcification, pulmonary emphysema, osteoporisis, atrophy of skin, intestine, lipodystrophy (54), impaired wound repair process (59), and chronic inflammation in many age-related chronic disease, such as kidney disease, degenerative disease, diabetes, arteriosclerosis, skeletal muscle wasting, and hypertension (55, 60-64). Genetic up-regulation of Klotho, on the other hand, markedly delays age-related functional declines in various tissues and extends lifespan to levels ~31% greater than wild type counterparts (65, 66).

Among the aged phenotypes associated with a decreased expression of Klotho is an impaired tissue healing response. A recent study by Liu and colleagues (2007) (58), reported that impaired skin and small intestinal regenerative response in Klotho knockout mice is associated with a decreased stem cell number, proliferation and resistance to stress, as well as an impaired angiogenesis (58). However, supplementation with Klotho rescues epithelial stem cell function to improve tissue repair and suppress fibrosis (67). Interestingly, Liu and colleagues (2007) observed that the Klotho protein binds to multiple Wnt ligands and inhibits the biological activity of Wnt proteins to enhance stem cell function (58). *Do age-related declines in circulating Klotho similarly play a role in the fibrogenic conversion of MuSCs through a de-repression of Wnt signaling activation*?

## **1.2.3** Modulation of the skeletal muscle microenvironment through mechanical

stimulation

Exercise is a commonly implemented intervention to promote muscle repair in aged muscle and to stimulate the activation of molecular mechanisms critical for functional muscle repair (68), and

emerging evidence indicates that the application of mechanical stimuli increases MuSC activation and proliferation (69). Upon muscle loading, muscle produces chemical signals that may be essential for MuSC behavior and myogenicity (70). Studies have demonstrated that resistance training and treadmill exercise elevate MuSC numbers and increase myogenin (a transcription factor associated with myogenesis) levels in aged skeletal muscle (71-73). Mackey and collaborators (2007) reported that resistance training, performed 3 times a week for 12 weeks, was effective for enhancing the MuSC pool in the skeletal muscle of health elderly men and women (74). In addition, resistance training restores the proliferative capacity of MuSCs isolated from aged individuals to levels comparable to younger counterparts (75). Similar results were found in a study by Dreyer et al, in which investigators demonstrated a significantly increased number of MuSCs within 24 hours after maximal eccentric knee extensor exercise in both young and older men, though the older men displayed an attenuated response (76). Accordingly, Shefer and colleagues (2010) observed a significant increase in the number of satellite cells/myofiber after completion of a running protocol (71). Importantly, mechanical loading upregulates the gene expression of angiogenic factors (77, 78), induces growth factor secretion (79), increases neural recruitment (33), increases blood flow and increases leukocyte and monocyte infiltration to the injury area (80), all of which are critical for adequate regeneration.

Although, there are many studies demonstrating an increased number, activation, proliferation and differentiation of MuSCs, as well as an increased MuSC myogenicity and angiogenesis, the molecular mechanisms underlying these alterations remain poorly understood. One study suggested that application of a high-intensity exercise protocol to mice of varying different ages increases Wnt signaling activation in MuSCs (81, 82). Sakamoto and colleagues (2004) performed a study that included eight healthy human subjects. Subjects were submitted to

30 minutes of cycling exercise at both 75% of maximum intensity and 125% maximum intensity. Investigators found that exercise, both at submaximal and maximal intensities, deactivated GSK3 and decreased phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin in MuSCS (83). Another study by Armstrong and collaborators described that mechanical overloading of the plantaris muscle through bilateral synergist ablation significantly increased in Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway in plantaris muscle of young animals. Finally, Fujimaki *et al.* (2014) performed voluntary wheel running in adult and aging mice for 4 weeks and observed that voluntary wheel running induced the activation of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin signaling pathway. Unlike observations by Brack *et al.* (2007), in these cases, increased Wnt signaling was not associated with increased fibrosis formation, even in aged skeletal muscle (84). Taken together these data confirm that mechanical loading is a potent regulator of the Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin signaling pathway. However, the mechanisms underlying these effects remain unresolved.

Recently, Avin and colleagues (2014) proposed the intriguing possibility that Klotho might be regulated in response to skeletal muscle contractile activity (85). Though a direct relationship between muscle activity and Klotho expression has never been investigated, a number of studies support the hypothesis that there is a tight relationship between skeletal muscle activity and Klotho expression (reviewed in (85)). Phelps and colleagues evaluated grip strength and running endurance between Klotho-deficient mice, transgenic Klotho overexpressing mice (EFmKL46), and wild-type control mice. They observed Klotho-deficient mice displayed ~50% less force, when compared to both Klotho overexpressing and wild-type control mice. Furthermore, Klotho deficient mice also presented ~60% less endurance capacity when compared to EFmKL46 and control mice (33). These murine observations have clinical correlates, and it has been shown through epidemiological studies that decreased circulating Klotho is associated with decreased muscle strength (86). The emerging evidence that mechanical stimuli promotes MuSC myogenicity, potentially through regulation of Wnt signaling activation and/or Klotho expression, provides support for the hypothesis that muscle contractile activity may be an effective and practical intervention strategy to reverse the effect of age on cellular and molecular mechanisms associated with an impaired regenerative response after injury.

## **1.2.4** Electrical stimulation as a viable modality to promote MuSC myogenicity and counteract muscle regenerative deficits in aged animals

Electrical Stimulation (Estim) is a modality that has been adopted in sports medicine and in rehabilitation settings as a complement and/or substitute to voluntary strength training (87). Studies have demonstrated that Estim may be used to recover contractile function, prevent atrophy associated with disuse of the skeletal muscle, and stimulate MuSC activation (88). Moreover, Estim effectively induces changes in the skeletal muscle microenvironment and, specifically, promotes skeletal muscle angiogenesis and the release of growth factors (89, 90). One study demonstrated that 5, 10, or 20 days of chronic low-frequency stimulation increased MuSC content in hypothyroidic muscles, suggesting that it may be an effective modality for enhancing activation, proliferation, and/or the fusion of MuSCs (91). Additionally, five days of Estim increases VEGF secretion and blood flow within the muscle in a rat model ischemia (77), further confirming the ability of Estim to be a potent modulator of the skeletal muscle microenvironment.

Caggiano and colleagues compared the training effects of electrical stimulation and voluntary isometric contraction protocol (traditional exercise on the quadriceps strength) of 65 year old males (92). They observed that Estim had the same capacity to increase torque as

traditional exercise in older males. At molecular level, Kern et al, demonstrated that 9 weeks of Estim administered to bilateral anterior quadriceps in old sedentary males increased the expression biomarkers of activated MuSCs and myoblasts, such as IGF-1, and promoted the remodeling of myofibers and extracellular matrix (ECM) (93). These results suggest that Estim attenuates the functional decline associated with aging, and improves muscle strength and mass. Moreover, Guo et al. demonstrated that Estim provides an effective stimulus to prevent the loss of myonuclei and MuSCs in models of disuse muscle atrophy (88). Although several studies have demonstrated and elucidated skeletal muscle responses to Estim (94-97), the ability of Estim to modulate the aged skeletal muscle microenvironment and promote a rejuvenated MuSC phenotype is unknown. We hypothesize that targeted muscle contractile activity, elicited by Estim, reverses the age-related decline in skeletal muscle regenerative capacity at the tissue, cellular and molecular levels (Figure.

3)



Figure 3. Hypothesis schematic

Figure 3. Decreased muscle function that typically follows the aging process (left). We hypothesize that Estim reverses age-related declines in muscle stem (satellite) cell (MuSC) regenerative potential, and, ultimately, muscle function.

#### **1.3 SIGNIFICANCE**

In an elderly population, muscle weakness and atrophy occurs soon after the onset of decreased mobility, and previous studies have shown that lower extremity strength is an important determinant of fall risk (98, 99). Targeted interventions to prevent such a devastating cycle have the potential to hasten an elderly individual's return to previous level of functioning. We anticipate that completion of these studies will serve as an important first step in the development of therapies designed to counteract and/or reverse the effect of age on skeletal muscle regeneration after injury. An improved understanding of molecular and cellular mechanisms controlling tissue-healing response may reveal novel pharmacological targets to increase enhance skeletal muscle functional capacity in an aged population.

We propose that muscle contractile activity is an effective tool for modulating skeletal muscle regenerative potential, and the expansion of these studies will be important steps towards the development of targeted treatment interventions to prevent muscle wasting and weakness following periods of prolonged immobility, such as after a severe muscle injury, following an intensive care unit stay, or post-operatively. In addition, we propose that Estim that may be a beneficial modality to rejuvenate the aged skeletal muscle environment *prior* to undergoing an elective surgical procedure that involves significant muscle trauma, such as a total hip arthroplasty or spinal surgery. Such procedures result in considerable muscle damage, which may lead to decreased tissue blood flow, muscle atrophy, and decreased muscle strength (100); the resulting degenerative changes are oftentimes long-lasting (101). We propose that pre-operative treatment with Estim may better position aged skeletal muscle for an accelerated regenerative response post-operatively, ultimately contributing to a faster return to functional mobility.

#### **1.4 INNOVATION**

This study is innovative because it implements a clinically-relevant and cost-effective modality, Estim, as a means to target MuSC responses and promote enhanced regeneration of aged skeletal muscle. Although Estim has been investigated in many studies in the context of muscle hypertrophy and healing, further investigation is needed to analyze the underlying mechanisms by which Estim may modulate MuSC behavior in aged muscle.

This research is also innovative because it integrates basic science principles with rehabilitation approaches, an integration that may aid in the development of targeted protocols designed to enhance muscle healing in a geriatric population. This project will allow us to discriminate the effects of mechanical loading at the molecular, cellular, histological and functional levels with the goal of better understanding how mechanical stimulation may attenuate, prevent or reverse muscle impairments in a geriatric population.

#### **1.5 AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS**

The overall objective of this work is to investigate the ability of Estim to reverse the effect of age on skeletal muscle healing process. To test our hypothesis that Estim may reverse age-related declines in myofiber regeneration after injury, Specific Aim 1 will examine histological evidence of muscle regeneration, and physiological strength recovery among Young Control (YC), Young Injury (YI), Aged Control (AC), Aged Injury (AI), and Aged Estim (AEI) groups. In Specific Aim 2, we will analyze the effect of Estim on *in vitro* muscle progenitor cell (MPC) characteristics, including myogenic differentiation and activation of the myogenic molecular program. For *in vitro* characteristics, MPCs from all experimental groups, Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC), and Aged Estim (AE), will be isolated in order to investigate the effect of Estim on cellular terminal differentiation and senescence. Moreover, we will employ a gain- and loss-of function paradigm to test our hypothesis that the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC myogenicity is a result of inhibition of the Wnt signaling cascade by Klotho.

#### **1.5.1** Specific aims and hypothesis of study 1

# To determine the ability of Estim to improve the regeneration and functional recovery of aged skeletal muscle after acute muscle injury.

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Estim will improve myofiber regeneration (as evidenced by the number and size of regenerating fibers), and decrease fibrosis formation (as evidenced by a decreased collagen deposition) after injury in aged skeletal muscle. This enhanced tissue regeneration will be associated with a significantly enhanced functional recovery (as determined by *in situ* contractile testing).

#### 1.5.2 Specific aim and hypothesis of study 2

### To determine the ability of Estim to rejuvenate the regenerative potential of MuSCs through a Klotho-mediated inhibition of Wnt signaling

<u>Hypothesis:</u> Estim will increase the viability (as evidenced by an enhanced metabolism and senescence) and myogenic capacity (as evidenced by the expression of myogenic marker, desmin) of aged MPCs. These alterations will be associated with a down-regulation of Wnt signaling activation, as evidenced by a decreased expression of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin and increased expression of GSK3. Finally, we hypothesize that Estim induces an increase in local Klotho expression, thereby inhibiting Wnt signaling activation in aged MPCs.

## 2.0 NEUROMUSCULAR ELECTRICAL STIMULATION REJUVENATES THE REGENERATIVE POTENTIAL OF AGED MUSCLE PROGENITOR CELLS

#### 2.1 SUMMARY

Increasing age typically results in a decreased skeletal muscle regenerative capacity and increased fibrosis after injury, ultimately contributing to a weakness and declines in physical functioning. With age, stem cells display cell-autonomous alterations that predispose the muscle to an impaired regenerative potential. However, many of these age-related changes have been shown to be reversible through rejuvenation of aged stem cell responses. Here, we test the hypothesis that mechanical stimulation via neuromuscular electrical stimulation (Estim) boosts the regenerative potential of aged muscle progenitor cells (MPCs) and improves skeletal muscle regeneration after injury. Estim is an attractive modality since it has been shown to enhance secretion of myogenic and angiogenic growth factors, as well as inhibit fibrogenic pathways. Our results demonstrate that two weeks of Estim enhances myofiber regeneration and increases tetanic force recovery in aged muscles after an acute injury. Improved muscle regeneration in aged muscle following the application of Estim is concomitant with a rejuvenated muscle progenitor cell (MPC) phenotype, as demonstrated by a decreased activation of the pro-fibrogenic pathway, Wnt signaling, as well as a decreased senescence. Finally, our results suggest that the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC regenerative potential is concomitant with an up-regulation of the anti-aging protein, Klotho. Taken together, these data provide evidence that Estim may be a great mechanical stimulus to improve
functional recovery after an acute injury in aged muscle and activate important pathways to modulate the anti-aging declines.

### 2.2 INTRODUCTION

Age-related skeletal muscle weakness and impairment in regenerative capacity following damage is a major contributor to declines in functional mobility and is associated with an increased morbidity in an elderly population (1). After injury, the skeletal muscle of aged individuals demonstrates increased skeletal muscle fibrosis formation and adipose tissue accumulation (8, 15, 24). These are concomitant with an impaired myofiber regeneration and subsequent decrease in muscle contractility (103-106). A better understanding of the cellular mechanisms controlling age-related skeletal muscle dysfunction will aid in the development of clinically relevant approaches to address this significant problem.

The ability of skeletal muscle to repair itself after injury is largely dependent on the response of muscle stem (satellite) cells (MuSCs). After injury, MuSCs are activated to become myoblasts, which subsequently fuse to form myofibers (107). However, aging typically culminates in a multitude of compromised MuSC responses. Several decades ago, it was proposed that a dramatic decrease in the absolute number of MuSCs in aged skeletal muscle may underlie the observed age-related impairment of healing after injury (37). More recently, studies have demonstrated that autonomous defects within the resident MuSC population may primarily explain the deficit in muscle regeneration of aged muscle. Aged MuSCs display an impaired ability to respond to an injury stimulus, owing in large part to a reduced capacity for myogenic

differentiation (108). Specifically, aging disrupts MuSC lineage specification, as demonstrated by a myogenic-to-fibrogenic conversion (7, 39).

The skeletal muscle microenvironment is an important regulator of MuSC function. Studies using heterochronic parabiosis, in which the circulatory systems of young and aged animals are surgically joined, have demonstrated that exposure of aged MuSCs to a young microenvironment restores myogenic capacity to youthful levels. This enhanced MuSC behavior is concomitant with an improved healing response after an acute injury (9, 39, 49). Importantly, it has been shown that the improved muscle healing of aged parabiotic partners is not the result of a physical contribution of the young cells within the circulation (109), suggesting that systemic niche factors play a critical role in dictating MuSC behavior. In vitro models revealed that, when MuSCs were exposed to mouse serum derived from aged mice, young MuSCs display an increased fibrogenic conversion. This increased fibrogenic conversion was further associated with an increased Wnt signaling activation. Whereas canonical Wnt signaling is typically activated in young healthy muscle (43-45), aged MuSCs demonstrate an excessive activation of the Wnt signaling pathway, which has been shown to ultimately result in a dysfunctional myogenesis and increased fibrosis at the injury site (7). Intriguingly, when aged MuSCs are exposed to serum derived from young mice, the cells display a decreased Wnt signaling activation and an enhanced myogenic potential(7). These findings suggest that some circulating factor found in young serum may inhibit or functionally neutralize activation of the Wnt signaling cascade.

Similar to the rejuvenating effects of heterochronic parabiosis, physical activity induces a myriad of anti-aging effects, including prevention of muscle wasting, cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and diabetes. There has been mounting evidence to suggest that muscle contractile activity, by exercise or electrical stimulation (Estim), may also enhance muscle progenitor cell

(MPC) regenerative potential (110, 111). In both animals and humans, it has been shown that muscle loading induces the activation and proliferation of MPCs, promotes skeletal muscle angiogenesis, and stimulates the release of myogenically favorable growth factors (reviewed in (90, 112)). In the current study, we tested our hypothesis that skeletal muscle contractile activity mitigates the effect of age on MPC function and skeletal muscle healing capacity. Our results demonstrate that two weeks of Estim restores MPC myogenicity to youthful levels, and that this enhanced cellular functioning is consistent with a decreased Wnt signaling activation and decreased cellular senescence. We further present evidence to suggest that the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC senescence is mediated by an up-regulation of the circulating longevity protein, Klotho. Importantly, the rejuvenating effects of Estim on MPC behavior are concomitant with evidence of enhanced histological and functional recovery two weeks after injury.

# 2.3 METHODS

#### 2.3.1 Skeletal muscle injury

For the *in vivo* study, a total of forty animals (n=16, 14-16 weeks old mice; n=24, 22-24 months old mice) were divided into the following groups: Young control (YC), Aged Control (AC n=8), Young + Injury (YI), Aged + Injury (AI n=8), and Aged+Estim+Injury (AEI n=8). For the *in vitro* study, a total of fifty animals were divided in 3 groups: (YC n=15), (AI n=20), and (AE n=15). All experiments were performed with prior approval from the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Pittsburgh. Mice were anesthetized with 2% isofluorane,

administered by inhalation during muscle injury, functional contractile testing, and euthanasia. Cardiotoxin (CTX) was intramuscularly injected into bilateral tibialis anterior (TA) muscles in order to induce an acute muscle injury in all experimental groups after 5 sessions of Estim (performed over the course of 10 days). Young Injury and Aged Injury animals that were not been treated with Estim were similarly injured bilaterally.

For the injury, mice were anesthetized with 2% isoflurane (Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL) in 100% O2 gas. The hair was shaved and the skin was cleaned with isopropyl alcohol. CTX from *Naja mossambica mossambica venom* (Sigma C9759) was prepared with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at a concentration of  $1\mu g/\mu l$ . Ten microliters of CTX were injected into bilateral TAs. Since there was no significant difference in the muscle weights across age groups (Young mice:  $58.5\pm1.3$  mg; Aged mice:  $58.8\pm1.5$  mg), an equal volume of CTX was injected into all muscles.

# 2.3.2 Electrical stimulation (Estim) protocol

Neuromuscular electrical stimulation was performed using a Neuromuscular Stimulator (Empi 300 PV, St Paul, USA) and modified surface electrodes, as we previously described (113). Prior to stimulation, the anterior lower limb was shaved and cleaned with alcohol. Location of the peroneal nerve was confirmed when stimulation resulted in a full hindlimb dorsiflexion and digit extension, indicating stimulation of the anterior compartment muscles, including the TA and extensor digitorum longus (EDL) muscles. Estim was performed bilaterally for two sets of ten contractions per session, for a total of five sessions and at least one day of rest between each session. The intensity was started at 9mA and was increased by 1.0mA when the animal was able to complete

two full sets (typically 2 days). We have found that this progression of stimulation does not contribute to additional muscle injury and does not result in any visible gait impairment as observed in our previously study using the same Estim protocol as described by Distefano (2013) (111). The parameters used include: pulse duration of 150ms, frequency of 50Hz, time on: 5 seconds, time off: 10 seconds, 0.5-second ramp and 0.5-second ramp down. This protocol was based on clinical protocols designed to increase muscle strength according to the principle of increased functional load (114, 115).

# 2.3.3 In situ contractile testing

Contractile testing was performed 14 days after injury using an *in situ* testing apparatus (Model 809B, Aurora Scientific Inc, Canada), a stimulator (Model 701C, Aurora Scientific Inc, Canada), and a force transducer (Aurora Scientific Inc, Canada). The method used allows for the determination of muscle contractile properties of a muscle of interest, while maintaining normal muscle orientation, innervation and vascular supply (111). Briefly, the peroneal nerve of anesthetized animals was isolated through a small incision lateral to the left knee. Mice were then placed supine on a 37°C-heated platform and the foot being tested is positioned on the footplate. The left hindlimb used for testing was stabilized with cloth tape on the knee and foot. Muscles were stimulated through the peroneal nerve by a hook electrode inserted beneath the skin. Muscle peak twitch, time to peak twitch and half-relaxation time with the ankle positioned at 20° of plantarflexion, the position that we determined to result in the greatest force output (data not shown), were quantified. Tetanic contractions at 10, 30, 50, 80, 100, 120, 150 Hz were elicited to obtain a force- frequency curve, with a 2-minute rest between each contraction. The muscles were

then subjected to a 7 minute high-frequency fatigue protocol consisting of a series of short 350ms tetanic contractions at 100 Hz, with 4-second intervals between contractions (116). Force recovery was analyzed at 5 and 10 minutes following completion of the fatiguing protocol, as we previously described (111, 117). Right TA muscles from mice in each group were then harvested and frozen in nitrogen-cooled 2-methylbutane for subsequent histological analysis by blinded investigator.

#### 2.3.4 Histology and immunofluorescence

Frozen muscles were serially sectioned (10 μm sections) at -30°C on a Thermo Scientific cryostat and mounted onto slides. Histological assessment of the recovery process was performed in groups of control and injured mice 14 days after injury.

*Laminin Immunofluorescence:* Slides were washed 3x with 1x PBS and permeabilized with 0.03% Triton X-100 in PBS for 20 min at room temperature. Slides were then blocked with 5% Normal Goat Serum (Vector S-1000) in PBS for 60 min at room temperature. Slides were washed 3x with 1x PBS and 3x with 0.5% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA). Slides were then incubated with Rat anti-Laminin primary (1:100, Abcam 11576) for 60 min at room temperature. Slides were washed 3x with 0.5% BSA and incubated with Goat anti-Rat Alexa Fluor 488 secondary (1:500, Life Technologies A-11006) for 60 min at room temperature. Slides were washed 3x with 1x PBS, and incubated with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Life Technologies 1370421) for 1 min at room temperature. Slides were washed 6x with 1x PBS and cover slips were mounted with Cytoseal XYL (Richard-Allen Scientific 8312-4). Slides were imaged (20x magnification) using a Nikon 90i motorized upright fluorescent microscopy. Myofiber diameter and the total number fibers were determined utilizing an automated macro

written in Nikon Elements AR (Nikon Elements AR, Nikon, Tokyo, Japan). To calculate the myofiber diameter we calculated how many individual bundles of fibers there were. After, the average area of everything divided by the total number of fibers gave us the average area per fiber.

*Fibrogenesis:* Masson's Trichrome staining was performed to quantify the percent of collagen content and muscle fiber in a muscle section. Slides were processed using Masson's Trichrome Stain Kit as per manufacturer's instructions (K7228; IMEB, Chicago, IL). This process stains skeletal muscle fibers red, collagen blue, and nuclei black. For each sample, three random sections were selected and photographed using Nikon 90i motorized upright fluorescent microscopy and NIS-Elements. The percentage of the total collagen-positive area relative to the total cross-sectional area was calculated. For determination of collagen content, sections were analyzed using MetaMorph Offline.

#### 2.3.5 MPC isolation

TA and Extensor Digitorum Longus muscles from bilateral hindlimb muscles of 5 animals per experimental group (young, aged, and aged+Estim) were harvested for MPC isolation using a modified pre-plate technique, as previously described (26, 118, 119). Briefly, after hindlimb muscle enzymatic digestion, the homogenate was serially plated onto collagen-coated flasks. It has been previously shown that cells that rapidly adhere to the collagen-coated flasks (passage 1 and 2) are predominantly of a fibroblastic lineage (26). On the other hand, those late adhering cells, isolated after three or four serial passages, have been previously characterized as having a myogenic lineage (26). All cells were expanded in high-serum proliferation medium (Dulbecco's modified Eagle's

medium, 10% fetal bovine serum, 10% horse serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 0.5% chick embryo extract). Analyses were performed on MPCs that had been passaged fewer than three times in order to minimize the effect of chronic culture on MPC characteristics. Whenever possible, MPC analyses were performed by an investigator blinded to groupings.

#### 2.3.6 Metabolic activity (MTS) assay

MPC viability was measured using CellTiter 96 Aqueous One solution (MTS: 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)- 2H-tetrazolium); Promega, Sunnyvale, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, 1,000 cells were seeded in each well of a 96-well plate and allowed to attach for 24 hours. Twenty µL of MTS solution was then added to the cells at 0, 1, 2, 3, or 7 days, incubated at 37 <sup>o</sup>C for 1 hour and quantified using a spectrophotometer (Tecan, San Jose, CA) at 490 nm. This assay is based on the conversion of a color reagent by NADPH or NADH, which is produced in metabolically active cells and is, therefore, indicative of the number of cells that are metabolically active.

#### 2.3.7 Senescence associated SA-β-Galactosidase (SA-β-Gal) activity assay

This assay followed the method described by Debacq-Chainiaux et al.,(120) which is based on a histochemical stain for  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (pH 6.0). In this assay, senescent cells are stained blue/green. Cells were washed with PBS and subsequently fixed in 2% PFA+0.2% glutaraldehyde in PBS for 5 min at room temperature, washed twice with PBS twice, and then incubated with a

staining mixture containing 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl  $\beta$ -d-galactoside, potassium ferricyanide, potassium ferrocyanide in citric acid–sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.0) at 37 °C overnight. Cells were then washed with PBS and mounted with DAPI-fluoromount-G mounting media. Cells expressing SA- $\beta$ -Gal were manually counted, and expressed as a percentage of the total cell count.

# 2.3.8 MPC myogenicity

To determine whether Estim can reverse the effect of age on MPC terminal differentiation, we compared *in vitro* myogenicity across groups. Cells from each population were seeded onto a 12-well collagen-coated plate, and expanded to confluence in proliferation media (typically 3-4 days). Once cells were 70% confluent, the media was changed to a low-serum media in order to promote differentiation. After 3-5 days, immunofluorescence was performed on fixed cells (4% PFA, 10 min) after permeabilization (0.2% PBT; 10 min) and blocking (5% GS in PBT). MPCs were then incubated in a primary antibody against desmin (myogenic marker). Cells were incubated in primary the primary antibody against desmin (1:1000) (overnight at 4°C at the following dilutions. Next, cells were washed and blocked in 5% GS/PBS then incubated in fluorophore-conjugated antibody (goat anti-rabbit Alexafluor 488 at 1/1000) and DAPI to visualize nuclei for one hour at room temperature. The percentage of cells positively stained cells for desmin was calculated as a function of total cell number (as determined by quantification of the total nuclear count).

# 2.3.9 Wnt signaling activation

Flow cytometry was used to quantify the effect of Estim on Wnt signaling in MuSCs. MPC populations isolated from young and old animals were labeled with a fluorescent antibody specific to a substrate of Wnt signaling,  $\beta$ -catenin. Cells were fixed with 4%PFA for 10 minutes at 37<sup>o</sup>C and then permeabilized in 100% methanol for 30 minutes in ice and after that cells were kept in -20<sup>o</sup>C overnight. On the next day, 5ml of PBS was added and cells were centrifuged at 10000 rpm for five min. Cells were resuspended in 100 ml of PBS and 5  $\mu$ l of first anti-body anti-human  $\beta$ -Catenin Alex Fluor 488 (ref#53-2567) was added and incubated at room temperature for one hour. Afterwards, cells were centrifuged, rinsed, and resuspended in 100 µl of PBS. Cells were subsequently incubated in 5µl of second anti-body mouse IgG1 K Isotype Control Alex Fluor 488 (ref#53-4714) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Finally, cells were rinsed with PBS, centrifuged, and resuspended in 0.5ml of phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Cells were analyzed using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) and gated to include cells with fluorescence for MuSCs markers, CD31-, Sca1-, CD45- and VCAM+ (Fig 4). β-Catenin expression was evaluated in a MuSC sub-population and the percentage of positively stained cells for each variable was compared across groups.



Figure 4 - Gating strategy for sorting of MuSCs from the MPC population

In this sample gating strategy, cells were isolated from TAs and EDLs and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A-D): Gating strategy for analysis of 106+ population. (A) Gating for cells based on forward and side scatter. (B-C) Cells were first gated for singlets versus doublet populations, and then cells were gated for CD31- and 45-, and Sca1-. (D) Only triple negative cells were gated for 106+. Abbreviations: FSC-A, Forward Scatter Area; SSC-A, Side Scatter Area; FSC-H, Forward Scatter Height; FSC-W, Forward Scatter Width.

For GSK-3 $\beta$  analysis, MPCs were plated in 12 well-coated plates and after 24 hours they

were incubated with primary antibody (anti-GSK3 beta antibody (ab2602) at 1:100 overnight at

4<sup>o</sup>C). Cells were incubated with second antibody (488 goat anti rabbit, respectively) at 1:100 for 1 hour following the manufacturer's recommendation. The average intensity of fluorescence was quantified across group.

#### 2.3.10 Immunocytochemistry protocol to evaluate Wnt and Klotho

Samples were incubated with primary antibodies rat anti-Klotho (R&D, MAB1819) and mouse anti  $\beta$ -catenin (Thermofisher scientific, MA1-2001) overnight in 4C at 1:1000 dilution in 3% Goat serum (Jackson Laboratories, Product no. 005-000-121). After a triple wash with PBS, the cells were incubated with their respective secondary antibodies, goat-anti Rat Alexa Fluor 488 (Life Technologies, A11006), goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 594 (Life Technologies, A11005) and Phalloidin 647 in 3% Goat serum at 1:500 dilution for 60 minutes. The chamber slides were mounted with DAPI Fluoromount-G media (SouthernBiotech, 0100-20) with a glass coverslip after washing with PBS three times. Imaging was performed using a Nikon Confocal All images were obtained at the same exposure for each channel. ImageJ was used to analyze confocal images for intensity of Klotho and  $\beta$ -catenin in the region of interest.

# 2.3.11 siRNA Klotho knockdown

MPCs were plated to 70% confluence, after which time they were transfected with 50nM of pools of siRNA specific for Klotho or with 25nM of both specific siRNA pools (siGENOME SMART pool, Dharmacon, Lafayette, CO) using Dharmafect 1 reagent (Dharmacon) according to the

supplier's protocol. As a negative control, cells were transfected with 50nM of Non-Specific Pool #2 siRNA (siGENOME SMART pool, Dharmacon. Four days post transfection, the cells were placed in differentiation media for 2 days, and nuclear  $\beta$ -Catenin expression and senescence were subsequently evaluated, as described above.

#### 2.3.12 Statistical analysis

Analyses were performed using SPSS v22.0 software (Armonk, NY). Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests were initially performed to assess normality of data and equality of variances, respectively. If assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances were met, a one-way ANOVA followed by *post-hoc* Tukey tests were performed to compare differences across groups. However, because normality conditions were not met and the distribution was not normal, *Post hoc* comparisons between groups were performed using the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Mann-Whitney U tests. Multiple linear regressions were performed for the *in situ* contractile data, to investigate the slopes of muscular fatigue and recovery in different time points. Non-linear regression using exponential growth modeling on normalized data was performed for the proliferation assay results to evaluate the cells metabolic activity in different time points. All results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error. Statistical significance was established, *a priori*, at *p*≤0.05.

# 2.4 **RESULTS**

# 2.4.1 Estim enhances myofiber regeneration and force recovery in aged skeletal muscle after an acute injury

As expected, acutely injured aged muscle displayed a significant impairment in myofiber regeneration, as determined by a decrease in total number of myofibers (TNF) and the myofiber cross-sectional area (CSA), when compared to young injured counterparts (p=0.009 and p<0.001; respectively) (Figure 5). However, two weeks of Estim significantly increased regeneration in acutely injured aged muscle, when compared to age-matched controls (TNF: p=0.009, CSA: p<0.001) (Figure 5). There was no difference in the regeneration of aged muscle that had been exposed to Estim and young counterparts (TNF: p=0.465, CSA: p=0.785) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Effect of pre-treatment Estim on the total number fiber and cross sectional area in aged

mice.

(A) Total number fibers in all experimental groups 14 days after cardiotoxin injury (n=7-8/group). (B) Cross sectional area of TA muscles in across the experimental groups: Young control (YC); Aged control (AC); Young injured (YI); Aged injured (AI); and Aged injured + Estim (AEI). (C) Laminin staining in the tissue cross-sections of TA muscles in all groups (Green=Laminin, Blue= DAPI). n=7-8/group, (20x magnification, scale bar=100µm).\*\*Denotes significantly different p=0.0019, \*\*\*Denotes significantly different p<0.0005, \*\*\*\*Denotes significantly different p<0.0001.

Analysis of collagen content revealed no significant difference in fibrosis formation between any of the injury groups evaluated (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Effect of pre-treatment Estim on the percentage of scar tissue formation in aged mice

(A) Percent of collagenous tissue across experimental groups. (B) Masson's Trichrome stain (Fibers (Red); Collagen (Blue), and Nuclei (Black)) in the tissue cross-sections of TA muscles of Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC), Young Injury (YI), Aged Injury (AI), and Aged Estim Injury (AEI) 14 days after cardiotoxin injury (CTX) (10x magnification, scale bar = 100  $\mu$ m). \*Denotes significantly different p<0.05; \*\*Denotes significantly different p<0.01.

To examine whether the enhanced regenerative response following the application of Estim in aged animals was concomitant with an improved force recovery after injury, we performed *in situ* contractile muscle testing. Fourteen days post injury, the specific tetanic force tested at 100Hz in aged injury muscle was significantly lower when compared young injury counterparts (p=0.006) (Figure 7A). However, completion of an Estim protocol restored force recovery in aged muscles to levels comparable to young counterparts (p=0.509; Figure 7A; Table 1), and significantly greater than age-matched injured muscles (p=0.046; Figure 7A and C; Table 1). There was no difference in the fatigue resistance or recovery from a fatiguing protocol at 5 or 10 minutes recovery between injured groups (Figure 7 B), but all injured muscles displayed a decreased recovery (p≤0.001). Analysis of temporal contractile characteristics revealed no differences in time to peak twitch or half relaxation time between groups (Table 1).



Figure 7 In situ contractile testing of the lower leg anterior compartment

Fourteen days after cardiotoxin injury, *in situ* contractile testing of tetanic force production in the anterior leg muscle compartment was performed in Young Control (YC), Young Injury (YI), Aged Control (AC), Aged Injury (AI), and Aged Estim Injury (AEI). (A) Force Frequency Curve; (B) Quantification of fatigue resistance and force recovery after a fatiguing protocol; (C) Peak tetanic force at 100Hz. Data are mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) for all experimental groups. \* p<0.05 when comparing to AEI.

#### Table 1. Contractile characteristics

Measurement	YC	YI		AC	AI	AEI
Mice (n)	8	7		8	8	8
Muscle weight (mg)	58.5±1.3	48.5±1.2**	#	58.8±1.5	40.8±2.5 #	44.3±3.1 #
Muscle length (mm)	12.6±0.1	12.4±0.1		12.8±0.2	12.7±0.1	12.7±0.2
Cross-sectional area (mm <sup>2</sup> )	4.3±0.1	3.6±0.08**		4.3±0.1	3.0±0.2 #	3.3±0.2 #
Maximum twitch torque (milliNm)	0.71±0.02	0.34±0.02	Ħ	0.73±0.06	0.25±0.04 #	0.36±0.06 #
Maximum tetanic torque, 100 Hz (milliNm)	1.97±0.15	0.91±0.07**	#	2.25±0.21	0.47±0.04 #	0.85±0.16 ** #
Specific twitch force (milliN/mm <sup>2</sup> )	5.48±0.19	3.14±0.22		5.71±0.55	2.53±0.54 #	3.58±0.34 #
Specific tetanic force, 100 Hz (milliN/mm <sup>2</sup> )	15.2±1.2	8.2±0.65**	#	17.5±1.7	5.4±0.44 #	8.3±1.0 •• #
Frequency for maximum specific tetanic force (Hz)	125.8±1.35	59.0±0.67**	#	142.7±1.83	45.8±0.45 #	72.6±1.00 ** #
Time to peak twitch (s)	0.43±0.02	0.37±0.04		0.39±0.03	0.41±0.07	0.40±0.07
Half-relaxation time (s)	0.001±0.00002	0.008±0.005		0.01±0.005	0.001±0.0004	0.003±0.001

Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM and statistical differences were determined by one-way ANOVA (p<0.05). #Significantly different when compared to YC and AC; \*\*Significantly different when compared to AI.

# 2.4.2 Estim rejuvenates the aged MPCs phenotype

We next tested whether the enhanced regenerative response following Estim was associated with an altered MPC phenotype. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that ~68% of the young and 50% of aged populations were CD106+, Sca1-,CD31, and CD45-, an expression profile show to be highly selective for MuSCs (118, 119). Interestingly, aged animals that completed an Estim protocol displayed a MuSC profile that closely paralleled that of young counterparts, and approximately 65% of cells isolated from were CD106+, Sca1-, CD31, and CD45- (Figure 8).



Figure 8 FACS sorting for 106+ cells to isolate pure MPCs population

Cells were isolated from TA and EDLs muscle of Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC), and Aged Estim (AE). Cells were stained for CD31-, CD45-, Sca1-, and CD106+ (indicative of an MuSC subpopulation), and analyzed by FACS. Fluorescent staining of sorted cells from all experimental groups shows the percentage (y-axis) and intensity (x-axis) of MuSCs.

Consistent with previous studies (121), MPCs isolated from aged animals demonstrated a significantly decreased myogenesis, when compared to young controls (Figure 9). However, following Estim, aged MPCs displayed a myogenic differentiation comparable to young counterparts, \* p=0.03 (Figure 9 A and B).

Α



Figure 9 Effect of Estim on MPC myogenicity

(A) MPCs were fixed and immunostained for Desmin, a myogenic marker (Green) and the nuclear stain, DAPI (Blue) in Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC), and Aged Estim (AE). \*, p=0.03. (B) Graph showing the percentage of cells positive for Desmin. Scale bar=100 μm

When we examined MPC viability across experimental groups using an MTS assay, we observed a significant decrease in the metabolic activity of aged MPCs relative to young counterparts (p<0.0001), but the metabolic activity of aged MPCs was restored to youthful levels following completion of an Estim protocol (p<0.001) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Metabolic viability assay of MPCs

Line graph showing an increased in cell viability assay in Young Control (YC) and Aged Estim (AE), when compared to Aged Control (AC).

When we analyzed cellular senescence across the three groups, we observed a significant increased in senescence-associated beta-galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal) staining of MPCs isolated from the skeletal muscle of aged mice, relative to young controls (Figure 11A, B). These results are consistent with previous findings reporting an increased cellular senescence of aged MuSCs, as determined by p16<sup>Ink4a</sup> and p21<sup>Cip1</sup>(123). Following completion of Estim protocol in aged animals,

however, the percentage of senescent MPCs resembled levels comparable to young counterparts, demonstrating an improved capacity of Estim to rejuvenate aged MPC (124, 125) (Figure 11A, B).



Figure 11 Estim decreases the percentage of senescent cells in aged MPCs

(A) SA- $\beta$ -gal staining (blue) of MPCs isolated from the skeletal muscle of Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC) and Aged Estim (AE) mice. Scale bar=50µm. (B) Graphic representation of the percentage of senescence cells across each of the three experimental groups. The number of SA- $\beta$ -gal positive cells is significantly increased in AC cells, when compared to YC. However, the percentage of senescent cells is significantly decreased in AE, when compared to AC group. \*\* p≤0.005.

#### 2.4.3 Estim modulates Wnt signaling/β-Catenin pathway in aged MPCs

Given previous reports demonstrating a role for Wnt signaling in age-related declines in MuSC function, we next tested whether Estim may affect MPC myogenicity through modulation of Wnt signaling activation. Though flow cytometry analysis revealed that the aged MuSC subpopulation display an increase in Wnt signaling activation relative to young counterparts (Figure 12 A), consistent with previous reports (7, 58), the application of an Estim protocol decreased the percentage of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin positive cells when compared to aged controls (Figure 12A). These findings were further confirmed by immunocytochemical analysis of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin (Figure 12D and E). Finally, analysis of glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ), important for maintenance of the  $\beta$ -catenin degradation complex and, therefore, inhibition of  $\beta$ -Catenin nuclear translocation, revealed that Estim mitigated the age-related decrease in the percentage of GSK3 $\beta$  expression to values comparable to young controls (p=0.002) (Figure 12 B and C). Taken together, these findings suggest that the application of an Estim to aged skeletal muscle decreases Wnt signaling activation in aged MPCs.



Figure 12 Estim modulates Wnt/β-Catenin pathway

(A) Flow cytometry analysis of the intensity of  $\beta$ -Catenin present in the MuSC population of Young Control (YC), Aged Control (AC), and Aged Estim (AE). (B) Immunocytochemestry for GSK3 in MPCs from across the three groups (Green). Scale bar =100 µm. (C) Percentage of GSK3 is decreased in Aged Control MPCs, when compared to Young controls (YC). However, Aged Estim (AE) display a significant increase in GSK3 when compared to Aged Control (AC). \* denotes p<0.005 (D) Cells were fixed and stained for  $\beta$ -Catenin (Red) and DAPI for nuclei (Blue). Scale bar = 50µm (E) Quantification demosntrates significantly increased levels of nuclear  $\beta$ -Catenin in AC MPCs when compared to YC and AE, \*\*\*\* p<0.0001.

# 2.4.4 MPCs display an aged-related decrease in Klotho expression, but Estim restores expression to youthful levels

Heterochronic parabiosis experiments suggest that the introduction of youthful factors into the circulation of aged partners is sufficient to inhibit MuSC Wnt signaling activation and restore myogenic potential (47). However, the primary protein responsible for eliciting such rejuvenating effects is still unclear. One potential candidate of interest is the circulating hormone, Klotho. In tissues such as the skin and small intestine, declines in Klotho have been associated with inhibition of Wnt signaling activation and stem cell dysfunction (126). We therefore wondered if the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC function and regenerative potential in aged muscle might be a result of an up-regulation of Klotho expression.

To test this hypothesis, Klotho expression in injured young, aged and aged skeletal muscle exposed to Estim was quantified using immunofluorescence. Klotho expression was highly expressed at the site of acutely injured young skeletal muscle, but expression was markedly attenuated in the injured muscle of aged muscle (Figure 13). Strikingly, Klotho expression at the injury site of aged muscle was restored to youthful levels following completion of an Estim protocol (Figure 13).



Figure 13 Klotho expression after skeletal muscle injury

(A) Tibialis Anterior (TA) muscles were stained for Klotho expression (Green), myofibers (phalloidin; Red), and DAPI for nuclei (Blue). (B) Immunocytochemistry shows abundant Klotho expression after 14 days of CTX in Young Control (YC), but expression is significantly decreased in Aged muscle (AI). However, Aged Estim (AE) muscles displayed a Klotho expression significantly greater than age-matched controls, and to levels comparable to young counterparts. Scale bar 50  $\mu$ m. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001.

We next evaluated Klotho expression in MPC isolates from the three groups using confocal microscopy. Consistent with histological findings, young MPCs highly expressed Klotho throughout the nucleus and cytoplasm. Although Klotho expression was markedly decreased in aged MPC counterparts, when MPCs were isolated from aged muscle following completion of an Estim protocol, Klotho expression resembled that of young counterparts (Figure 14).



Figure 14 Estim restores the expression of longevity protein, Klotho, in aged MPCs

(A) Immunocytochimistry for Klotho expression (Green) and nuclear stain (DAPI; blue). Scale bar =  $50 \mu m$ . (B) Aged Control (AC) MPCs display significantly decreased expression of Klotho as compared to Young Control (YC) MPCs, \*\*\* denotes p<0.001. However, Estim increases Klotho expression in Aged Estim (AE) MPCs, as compared to Aged Control (AC). \*\* denotes p<0.01.

To further interrogate a potential role for Klotho in modulating MPC function, Klotho expression was inhibited using siRNA to Klotho in YC MPCs and AE MPCs; an inhibition which resulted in MPC Klotho levels comparable to that observed in aged MPCs (Figure 15A). Unexpectedly, we found that inhibition of Klotho in young MPCs and aged MPCs MPCs did not significantly increase nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin levels, as compared to YC or AE MPCs treated with a scramble control (Figure 15 B).



Figure 15 Silencing Klotho in Young Control and Aged Estim MPCs increases levels of β-catenin

Cells from Young control (YC) and Aged Estim (AE) were cultured and treated with siRNA to Klotho. Counterparts were treated with a non-coding (scramble) vector. Cells were fixed and immunostained for  $\beta$ -catenin and Klotho. (A) Klotho intensity decreases with silencing Klotho in the same levels of Aged Control, \*\*\*\* p<0.0001 (B)  $\beta$ -catenin increases in both Aged Control and Young+siRNA, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p=0.0003, \*\*p=0.005.

Since we did not observe the expected increase in nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin when Klotho was inhibited in our MPC populations, we next evaluated the effect of Klotho expression on cellular senescence across groups using a loss-of-function paradigm. There was no significant difference between the percentage of senescent cells in YC and AE groups (p>0.05), therefore, the data was pooled across these two populations. Our data showed that inhibition of Klotho significantly increases the percentage of senescent MPCs in a dose-dependent manner, when compared to control counterparts treated with a non-coding vector (Figure 16).



Figure 16 Silencing Klotho affects the percentage of senescence cells in a dose-dependent manner

(A) Representative images showing SA- $\beta$ -gal staining (Blue) of MPCs with silencing Klotho at varying doses (0, 10nmol, 25nmol, and 50nmol). Scale bar=200  $\mu$ m. (B) Bar graph showing quantification of the percentage of senescent MPCs across the different siRNA doses.

# 2.5 DISCUSSION

With advancing aging, the regenerative process of most tissues declines, and these declines are, in large part, attributed to dysfunction of tissue progenitor cells (9, 127). To better understand these declines with aging, it is necessary to identify the cellular and molecular mechanisms contributing to this impaired tissue function with age. Recently, studies have demonstrated the critical role of extrinsic factors within the niche for dictating MuSC regenerative potential (9, 128). In the present study, we investigated the influence of Estim on skeletal muscle regeneration in aged animals. Following two weeks of Estim, aged muscles displayed a myofiber regeneration and functional strength recovery comparable to young counterparts. Histological and functional improvements were concomitant with improvements in MPC characteristics, as evidenced by decreased in Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin signaling activation. Moreover, two weeks of Estim was sufficient to restore the percentage of senescent MPCs to youthful levels. Finally, we provide evidence to suggest that the beneficial effect of Estim on MPC regenerative potential may be a result of increased Klotho expression within aged skeletal muscle.

Many studies have demonstrated that mechanical loading, via exercise or Estim, for example, increases progenitor cell proliferative capacity and myogenicity (68, 81, 82, 93, 129-131). One study using microcurrent electrical neuromuscular stimulation (MENS) demonstrated enhanced regeneration and an increased number of MuSCs following cardiotoxin injury in 7 week-old mice (131). Another study compared leg press to Estim in 70 year-old subjects, and demonstrated that the application of Estim significantly increased the diameter of fast muscle

fibers and the number of Pax7 (a canonical MuSC marker) positive cells (132). Fujimaki and colleagues investigated the effect of functional overloading (FO) (via resistance exercise) on the plantaris muscle of 12 weeks old rats. Following FO, they found an increase in MuSC proliferation and differentiation, further confirming the ability of loading to modulate MuSCs responses (82).

Consistent with these previous studies, we observed a significantly increased myogenicity of aged MPCs following completion of an Estim protocol. Moreover, this increased myogenicity was accompanied by a decreased activation of the Wnt signaling cascade, as evidenced by a decreased  $\beta$ -Catenin and an increased GSK3. Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin signaling is upregulated during normal myogenesis (45, 133). However, in aged mice, the molecular signatures underlying the skeletal muscle regenerative cascade are dramatically altered, and aged muscle displays excess activation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade, resulting in fibrosis formation at the expense of myogenesis (7, 9). In contrast to our findings, Fujimaki et al. (2014) demonstrated a decreased GSK-3 expression and increased Wnt signaling activation in skeletal muscle of adult and old mice after 4 weeks of voluntary wheel running (84). There are some key differences in the previous studies and the current study that may help explain the conflicting results. First, Fujimaki et al used implemented a 4-week voluntary wheel running protocol. It is possible that longer duration protocol eventually promotes up-regulation of Wnt signaling, perhaps through the onset of myofiber microinjury. In the case of the Estim training protocol used in the current study, we chose a low intensity protocol, which we previously demonstrated does not result in injury, but does modulate the microenvironment through an increased angiogenesis (111). In addition, the molecular responses to voluntary wheel running versus Estim are likely to be different, as wheel running represents a whole body exercise protocol, whereas Estim is highly localized to the muscle of interest.

Our study demonstrated that the enhanced regenerative response in aged muscle following two weeks of Estim was associated with an increased expression of the longevity protein, Klotho. Using the skin and small intestine as models, Liu and colleagues demonstrated that Klotho enhances stem cell regenerative potential and promotes tissue healing through an inhibition of Wnt signaling activation (58). These latter findings were confirmed in recent studies demonstrating that Klotho is able to directly bind to Wnt ligands extracellularly, thereby inhibiting renal fibrosis formation (134). In the light of these previous findings, we originally hypothesized the decreased Wnt signaling following Estim in aged muscle might be a result of increased Klotho expression. However, though we observed an increase in Klotho expression in the aged animals exposed to Estim, loss-of-function studies for Klotho did not drive the expected increase in  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear translocation. These findings suggest that other signaling pathways, independent of MPC Klotho expression, may mediate the observed decrease in Wnt signaling activation of aged MPCs following an Estim protocol.

In contrast, we did observe a direct relationship between Klotho expression and the percentage of senescent MPCs. When Klotho was inhibited through siRNA in young MPCs and aged MPCs exposed to an Estim protocol, we observed a significantly increased percentage of senescence cells. These findings suggest that Klotho is inversely associated with senescence cells, and that Estim modulates Klotho expression in aged MPCs. Indeed, there is precedence to suggest that Klotho plays a role in inhibiting cellular senescence. Ikushima and colleagues demonstrated that Klotho has anti-senescent and anti-apoptotic roles in Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVEC) through suppression of the p53/p21-signaling pathway (135), an important intracellular signal pathway of senescence. A follow up study by Maekawa *et al.* demonstrated that Klotho attenuates cellular senescence and apoptosis in HUVEC through inhibition of p53/p21 via the

Extracellular signal-Regulated Kinase MEK/ERK pathway, a subfamily of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK)(136).

A number of studies have demonstrated that, with exercise, muscles promote the secretion of a number of cytokines (137-139). Studies suggest that cytokines and other peptides that are expressed and released by muscle fibers, aka "myokines", which have the capacity to promote paracrine and/or endocrine effects (140, 141). Indeed, several myokines, such as interleukin (IL)-6 (142), AMP-activated protein Kinase (AMPK) signaling, etc. have been shown to be stimulated by exercise (143). Importantly, many of these exercise-induced myokines have been shown to affect MuSCs proliferation, regulation of fat oxidation, and induced protection against several chronic disease (138, 140, 141).

Like heterochronic parabiosis and Klotho, physical activity induces a myriad of anti-aging effects, including prevention of muscle wasting, cardiovascular diseases and diabetes. Unfortunately, also like Klotho, physical activity levels have been shown to decline in both aged mice and men, which can limit the effectiveness of exercise and the benefits from it. Our findings suggest that Estim is a potent modality to modulate age-related declines in MPCs function and aged skeletal muscle regenerative capacity, possibly through regulation of Klotho expression. An important unresolved question is how does Estim regulate Klotho expression, and whether the Klotho expressed in acutely injured muscle originates from the circulation or the muscle itself? This would be an important line of future research.
### 2.5.1 Limitations

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effect of Estim in aged skeletal muscle healing and the association of Wnt signaling, cellular senescence and Klotho expression in MPCs. While our results suggest that Estim is a promising intervention to promote muscle healing in aged animals, several limitations should be noted. First, cells used for analysis were expanded in culture prior to *in vitro* analyses. Because only muscles directly exposed to Estim (ie. muscles of the anterior compartment) were used for cell isolation, the available muscle samples used for cell isolation were relatively small. As such, cells were necessarily expanded *in vitro* in order to obtain sufficient cell numbers for the analyses. Although all analyses were performed using cells that had undergone less than three passages, it cannot be discounted that amplification of cells in culture alters cellular characteristics and yields a heterogenous population (a phenomenon known as proliferation artifact). Therefore, isolated MPCs may not represent the behavior of cells in their native environment. Nevertheless, the fact that we demonstrate a significant improvement in force recovery after injury in aged mice following Estim, consistent with cellular and tissue findings, supports our hypothesis that Estim rejuvenates the regenerative response of aged muscle.

Another limitation of this study is that we investigated only a single Estim protocol. Though we observed a significant improvement in the regenerative capacity of aged muscle using a low intensity, five-day protocol, it would be very informative for future studies to investigate how timing, duration and frequency of Estim may optimize outcomes. This could serve as important insight to ultimately guide the development of clinical rehabilitation protocols. Along these lines, the current study only compared two age groups, young versus aged. However, under ideal conditions, this study would compare multiple age groups so as to have better idea of the trajectory of declines in regenerative potential over time, and how this may be modulated, or even prevented, by the application of mechanical stimulation protocols.

Finally, in our study, the effect of Estim on muscle regeneration was only evaluated in aged male mice. Future studies should consider whether the effect would be the different in the case of aged female mice. Indeed, Deasy *et al.* (2007) demonstrated that MPCs display sexual dimorphism, and that female mice display an enhanced regenerative potential when compared to male counterparts, owing to an increased resistance to oxidative stress (144). To the best of our knowledge, there are no studies that have investigated the role of sex on declines on MPC regenerative capacity over time.

## 2.6 CONCLUSION

Though aging is generally associated with a decreased healing response after injury, these agerelated effects are clearly reversible. Our findings suggest that mechanical loading may restore the metabolic activity of MPCs and exert a beneficial effect on progenitor cell fate through an inhibition of Wnt signaling activation and cellular senescence. Moreover, we provide evidence to suggest that the beneficial effect of Estim on inhibition of cellular senescence may be attributed to an increased expression of the longevity protein, Klotho. Future studies are needed to further elucidate the mechanisms by which Klotho expression in MPCs is reduced with aging, as well as the role of muscle loading as a potential treatment to retard declines in skeletal muscle vitality.

### **3.0 SIGNIFICANCE AND DIRECTION OF FUTURE RESEARCH**

The results presented here demonstrate that muscle contractile activity, administered via Estim, may be an effective method to promote tissue healing after injury in a geriatric population. Estim is often used in the clinic to promote muscle hypertrophy and healing after injury. However, a thorough understanding of how Estim may regulate molecular mechanisms to enhance MPC function in an elderly population has heretofore been lacking.

This study investigated the ability of Estim to reverse age-related declines in the skeletal muscle healing and function through improved MPC regenerative potential. Specifically, we provided evidence to suggest that Estim enhances MPC myogenicity, and that this enhanced myogenicity is concomitant with a decreased Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin activation and cellular senescence. Although previous studies have demonstrated the mechanosensitivity of the Wnt signaling pathway by myogenic cell populations, these studies were primarily conducted using young animal models in which Wnt signaling occurs at physiological levels (82, 145). Here, we show that a low-intensity Estim protocol restores Wnt signaling activation to the physiological levels found in young counterparts. This decreased Wnt signaling activation following Estim was concomitant with a decreased expression of senescent markers in aged MPCs, further confirming a restoration of a MPC young phenotype. Still unclear is whether there is a direct relationship between Wnt signaling activation and cellular senescence in MPC populations. Moreover, to the best of our

knowledge, our study is the first to suggest that MPC senescence may be regulated by mechanical stimulation.

Our data suggest that the decreased cellular senescence following Estim may be attributed to an increased expression of the longevity protein, Klotho. Klotho has been detected in the circulatory system in both animals and humans, and has been shown to play a role in the attenuation of an aging phenotype (33). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated a strong relationship between plasma Klotho expression and skeletal muscle strength and functioning (86, 146). Semba and colleagues related plasma Klotho levels with grip strength in 805 adults greater than 65 years old, and they found that decreased grip strength was associated with lower plasma Klotho levels (86). Another study by Semba and colleagues measured plasma Klotho and knee extension strength in 2734 aged adults (71-80 years old) (146). They observed that older adults with higher baseline levels of plasma Klotho presented a more gradual decline in knee strength over time, when compared to those with lower baseline level of Klotho. These findings support the hypothesis that there is a strong relationship between Klotho expression and skeletal muscle vitality. However, our study is the first to suggest that Klotho expression may be critical for skeletal muscle regeneration and may be modulated by skeletal muscle contractile activity.

Following an acute muscle injury in young animals, we observed a significant increase in local Klotho expression at the site of acutely injured young skeletal muscle, but that this response is markedly attenuated with increasing age. Intriguingly, local expression was restored to youthful levels with the application of just two weeks of Estim. Still unclear is whether an increased local expression of Klotho within the injured muscle is concomitant with an increase in circulating Klotho levels. Avin et al recently provided preliminary evidence to suggest that, indeed, circulating Klotho levels are upregulated following an acute exercise bout (33). Specifically, young and old

animals trained for 45 min on the treadmill running and immediately after exercise, display an increase in circulating Klotho levels (85). Taken together, an interesting direction of future research would be to explore whether evaluation of circulating Klotho levels may be useful as a predictive biomarker of muscle healing capacity. If so, might Estim be indicated to enhance Klotho expression in cases where baseline levels suggest a less-than-optimal healing response? (147, 148).

Recent murine investigations have demonstrated the health benefits of increased circulating Klotho levels, and genetic overexpression of Klotho in mice results in a significantly improved healthspan and lifespan (65, 66, 149). Our findings that muscle contractile activity enhances Klotho expression may shed insight into a potential mechanism by which exercise has been shown to confer systemic anti-aging effects, such as on cognitive or cardiovascular functioning. As an example, exercise has been shown to reverse age-related declines in cognition, and to promote neurogenesis in the brain (150, 151). Recently a study from Dubal and colleagues demonstrated that increased levels of Klotho similarly improve synaptic and cognitive functions in human amyloid precursor protein (hAPP) transgenic mice (which simulate phenotypes characteristic of Alzheimer's disease). The results suggested that Klotho administration might be a promising treatment for Alzheimer's disease (151). This raises the intriguing question, could the beneficial effect of exercise on brain health be mediated by up regulation of Klotho?

Exercise also has well-established benefits in the preservation of cardiovascular function (152, 153). Likewise, Klotho is inversely related to cardiovascular pathology. Studies have demonstrated that absence of Klotho in murine models causes atherosclerosis, vascular calcification, and defects in angiogenesis, all of which are reversed by Klotho administration (154-157). Could exercise-induced increases in Klotho play a role in the beneficial effects of exercise on cardiovascular functioning?

The results of this dissertation study provide novel insights into the association between cellular senescence and Klotho in MPCs, as well as the influence of Estim to modulate the expression of senescent markers in aged MPCs. Although, muscle contractile activity and Klotho expression represents a fascinating relationship that may help us better understand the anti-aging effects of exercise, further investigations are necessary to better understand the molecular basis for these interactions. For example, it would be interesting to further explore the relationship of different age-associated pathways, such as Notch, Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF $\beta$ -1), and <u>M</u>itogen-<u>A</u>ctivated <u>P</u>rotein <u>K</u>inase (MAPK), and how these may be regulated by Klotho expression in MPCs. A better understanding of Klotho signaling pathway may reveal a new understanding of aging declines and aging-related disease.

More broadly, these findings demonstrate that Estim may be a useful modality to increase stem cell regenerative potential, even while still within their native niche, and these results speak to the ability of rehabilitation modalities to tap into the intrinsic regenerative potential of resident stem cells. Of course, this study also brings new questions and new ideas to the forefront, and paves the way for cellular- and molecular-based investigations to guide clinical rehabilitation protocols. Despite the promising results, it should be noted that the Estim protocol used in this study was not optimized, and it is possible that a protocol with long duration or different intensity would further enhance the benefit of Estim on aged muscle healing capacity. Moreover, there are controversies in the literature related to the parameters and protocols of Estim used and the ability of murine responses to effectively mimic responses observed in humans. This potential disconnect may create confusion and a lack of general agreement regarding to specific parameters necessary for each specific pathology or treatment. Further translational studies investigating Estim protocol refinement are needed to determine the ability of Estim to enhance regeneration in a clinical setting. Taken together, this study brings to light an important and needed intersection between the fields of rehabilitation and regenerative medicine. The results collected here suggest that Estim can be applied to people and modulates similar factors associated with physical exercise, and attenuates the functional decline with aging by improving muscle strength, activating satellite cells, and, finally, regulating muscle progenitor cell regenerative potential. We anticipate that these findings will be useful in the design of effective and novel therapeutic strategies to counteract aged skeletal muscle declines.

# **APPENDIX A**

## **COMPLEMENTARY TABLES**

Table 2 In vivo outcomes

Outcomes	YC	YI	AC	AI	AEI
TNF	130.7±7.9	215.1±18.3	123±3.7	103.8±8.8	233.4±12.6
CSA	229097±2837.9	195211.3±7320.9	224445.9±3190.4	77141±4360.2	187778.2±3988.2
Fibrosis	14.4±0.6	37±2.5	15.6±2.5	45.7±9.1	41.2±6.4
Klotho		88.19979±2.3		9.040618±1.4	74.49656±2.9

Values are Mean±SEM. Abbreviations: TNF (Total Number Fibers), CSA (Cross Sectional Area), YC (Young Control), YI (Young Injury), AC (Aged Control), AI (Aged Injury), and AEI (Aged Estim Injury)

#### Table 3 In vitro outcomes

Outcomes	YC	AC	AE
Desmin	68.1±8.4	32.6±7.4	65.9±10.9
Senescence	26.41171±1.959855	47.69041±7.629873	21.46615±1.989951
GSK-3	80.7±4.1	64±3.5	81.5±4.7
<b>B-Catenin</b>	689.62±216.13	6926.61±1000.80	779.67±75.56
Klotho	3349.30±467.86	607.98±124.0012	2496.17±173.7837

Values are Mean±SEM. Abbreviations: YC (Young Control), AC (Aged Control), and AE (Aged Estim)

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Tinetti ME. Factors associated with serious injury during falls by ambulatory nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 1987;35(7):644-8.
- 2. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, and Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2002;50(5):889-96.
- 3. Janssen I, Shepard DS, Katzmarzyk PT, and Roubenoff R. The healthcare costs of sarcopenia in the United States. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2004;52(1):80-5.
- 4. Wolinsky FD, Callahan CM, Fitzgerald JF, and Johnson RJ. The risk of nursing home placement and subsequent death among older adults. *J Gerontol*. 1992;47(4):S173-82.
- 5. Szulc P, Beck TJ, Marchand F, and Delmas PD. Low skeletal muscle mass is associated with poor structural parameters of bone and impaired balance in elderly men--the MINOS study. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2005;20(5):721-9.
- 6. Carlson ME, Suetta C, Conboy MJ, Aagaard P, Mackey A, Kjaer M, and Conboy I. Molecular aging and rejuvenation of human muscle stem cells. *EMBO molecular medicine*. 2009;1(8-9):381-91.
- 7. Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, and Rando TA. Increased Wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. *Science*. 2007;317(5839):807-10.
- 8. Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Smythe GM, and Rando TA. Notch-mediated restoration of regenerative potential to aged muscle. *Science*. 2003;302(5650):1575-7.
- 9. Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, and Rando TA. Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. *Nature*. 2005;433(7027):760-4.

- 10. Carpenter S, and Karpati G. Segmental necrosis and its demarcation in experimental micropuncture injury of skeletal muscle fibers. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*. 1989;48(2):154-70.
- 11. Coggan AR, Spina RJ, King DS, Rogers MA, Brown M, Nemeth PM, and Holloszy JO. Skeletal muscle adaptations to endurance training in 60- to 70-yr-old men and women. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1992;72(5):1780-6.
- 12. Hepple RT, Mackinnon SL, Goodman JM, Thomas SG, and Plyley MJ. Resistance and aerobic training in older men: effects on VO2peak and the capillary supply to skeletal muscle. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1997;82(4):1305-10.
- 13. Tsivitse SK, Peters MG, Stoy AL, Mundy JA, and Bowen RS. The effect of downhill running on Notch signaling in regenerating skeletal muscle. *European journal of applied physiology*. 2009;106(5):759-67.
- 14. Yin H, Price F, and Rudnicki MA. Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. *Physiol Rev.* 2013;93(1):23-67.
- 15. Huard J, Li Y, and Fu FH. Muscle injuries and repair: current trends in research. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2002;84-A(5):822-32.
- 16. Kaariainen M, Jarvinen T, Jarvinen M, Rantanen J, and Kalimo H. Relation between myofibers and connective tissue during muscle injury repair. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports.* 2000;10(6):332-7.
- 17. Hill M, Wernig A, and Goldspink G. Muscle satellite (stem) cell activation during local tissue injury and repair. *Journal of anatomy*. 2003;203(1):89-99.
- 18. Webster MT, Manor U, Lippincott-Schwartz J, and Fan CM. Intravital Imaging Reveals Ghost Fibers as Architectural Units Guiding Myogenic Progenitors during Regeneration. *Cell stem cell*. 2016;18(2):243-52.
- 19. Rantanen J, Ranne J, Hurme T, and Kalimo H. Denervated segments of injured skeletal muscle fibers are reinnervated by newly formed neuromuscular junctions. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*. 1995;54(2):188-94.
- 20. Prisk V, and Huard J. Muscle injuries and repair: the role of prostaglandins and inflammation. *Histol Histopathol.* 2003;18(4):1243-56.

- 21. Mishra DK, Friden J, Schmitz MC, and Lieber RL. Anti-inflammatory medication after muscle injury. A treatment resulting in short-term improvement but subsequent loss of muscle function. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1995;77(10):1510-9.
- 22. Shen W, Li Y, Tang Y, Cummins J, and Huard J. NS-398, a cyclooxygenase-2-specific inhibitor, delays skeletal muscle healing by decreasing regeneration and promoting fibrosis. *Am J Pathol.* 2005;167(4):1105-17.
- 23. Shen W, Prisk V, Li Y, Foster W, and Huard J. Inhibited skeletal muscle healing in cyclooxygenase-2 gene-deficient mice: the role of PGE2 and PGF2alpha. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2006;101(4):1215-21.
- 24. Sato K, Li Y, Foster W, Fukushima K, Badlani N, Adachi N, Usas A, Fu FH, and Huard J. Improvement of muscle healing through enhancement of muscle regeneration and prevention of fibrosis. *Muscle & nerve*. 2003;28(3):365-72.
- 25. Menetrey J, Kasemkijwattana C, Day CS, Bosch P, Vogt M, Fu FH, Moreland MS, and Huard J. Growth factors improve muscle healing in vivo. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 2000;82(1):131-7.
- 26. Qu-Petersen Z, Deasy B, Jankowski R, Ikezawa M, Cummins J, Pruchnic R, Mytinger J, Cao B, Gates C, Wernig A, et al. Identification of a novel population of muscle stem cells in mice: potential for muscle regeneration. *The Journal of cell biology*. 2002;157(5):851-64.
- 27. Mauro A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol. 1961;9(493-5.
- 28. Li Y, and Huard J. Differentiation of muscle-derived cells into myofibroblasts in injured skeletal muscle. *Am J Pathol.* 2002;161(3):895-907.
- 29. Li Y, Li J, Zhu J, Sun B, Branca M, Tang Y, Foster W, Xiao X, and Huard J. Decorin gene transfer promotes muscle cell differentiation and muscle regeneration. *Mol Ther*. 2007;15(9):1616-22.
- 30. Zhu J, Li Y, Shen W, Qiao C, Ambrosio F, Lavasani M, Nozaki M, Branca MF, and Huard J. Relationships between transforming growth factor-beta1, myostatin, and decorin: implications for skeletal muscle fibrosis. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2007;282(35):25852-63.

- 31. Chan YS, Li Y, Foster W, Horaguchi T, Somogyi G, Fu FH, and Huard J. Antifibrotic effects of suramin in injured skeletal muscle after laceration. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2003;95(2):771-80.
- 32. Bursac N, Juhas M, and Rando TA. Synergizing Engineering and Biology to Treat and Model Skeletal Muscle Injury and Disease. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng.* 2015;17(217-42.
- 33. Jozsa L, Kannus P, Thoring J, Reffy A, Jarvinen M, and Kvist M. The effect of tenotomy and immobilisation on intramuscular connective tissue. A morphometric and microscopic study in rat calf muscles. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 1990;72(2):293-7.
- 34. Christov C, Chretien F, Abou-Khalil R, Bassez G, Vallet G, Authier FJ, Bassaglia Y, Shinin V, Tajbakhsh S, Chazaud B, et al. Muscle satellite cells and endothelial cells: close neighbors and privileged partners. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 2007;18(4):1397-409.
- 35. Calson BM, Wagner KR, and Max SR. Reinnervation of rat extensor digitorum longus muscles after free grafting. *Muscle & nerve*. 1979;2(4):304-7.
- 36. Croley AN, Zwetsloot KA, Westerkamp LM, Ryan NA, Pendergast AM, Hickner RC, Pofahl WE, and Gavin TP. Lower capillarization, VEGF protein, and VEGF mRNA response to acute exercise in the vastus lateralis muscle of aged vs. young women. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2005;99(5):1872-9.
- 37. Snow MH. The effects of aging on satellite cells in skeletal muscles of mice and rats. *Cell and tissue research*. 1977;185(3):399-408.
- 38. Schultz E, and Lipton BH. Skeletal muscle satellite cells: changes in proliferation potential as a function of age. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 1982;20(4):377-83.
- 39. Brack AS, and Rando TA. Intrinsic changes and extrinsic influences of myogenic stem cell function during aging. *Stem cell reviews*. 2007;3(3):226-37.
- 40. Carlson BM, Dedkov EI, Borisov AB, and Faulkner JA. Skeletal muscle regeneration in very old rats. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*. 2001;56(5):B224-33.
- 41. Fujii N, Boppart MD, Dufresne SD, Crowley PF, Jozsi AC, Sakamoto K, Yu H, Aschenbach WG, Kim S, Miyazaki H, et al. Overexpression or ablation of JNK in skeletal muscle has no effect on glycogen synthase activity. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2004;287(1):C200-8.

- 42. Force T, and Bonventre JV. Growth factors and mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Hypertension*. 1998;31(1 Pt 2):152-61.
- 43. Cossu G, and Borello U. Wnt signaling and the activation of myogenesis in mammals. *The EMBO journal*. 1999;18(24):6867-72.
- 44. Anakwe K, Robson L, Hadley J, Buxton P, Church V, Allen S, Hartmann C, Harfe B, Nohno T, Brown AM, et al. Wnt signalling regulates myogenic differentiation in the developing avian wing. *Development*. 2003;130(15):3503-14.
- 45. Brack AS, Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Shen J, and Rando TA. A temporal switch from notch to Wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. *Cell stem cell*. 2008;2(1):50-9.
- 46. Murphy MM, Keefe AC, Lawson JA, Flygare SD, Yandell M, and Kardon G. Transiently active Wnt/beta-catenin signaling is not required but must be silenced for stem cell function during muscle regeneration. *Stem Cell Reports.* 2014;3(3):475-88.
- 47. Carlson ME, Conboy MJ, Hsu M, Barchas L, Jeong J, Agrawal A, Mikels AJ, Agrawal S, Schaffer DV, and Conboy IM. Relative roles of TGF-beta1 and Wnt in the systemic regulation and aging of satellite cell responses. *Aging Cell*. 2009;8(6):676-89.
- 48. Watt FM, and Hogan BL. Out of Eden: stem cells and their niches. *Science*. 2000;287(5457):1427-30.
- 49. Carlson BM, and Faulkner JA. Muscle transplantation between young and old rats: age of host determines recovery. *The American journal of physiology*. 1989;256(6 Pt 1):C1262-6.
- 50. Sinha M, Jang YC, Oh J, Khong D, Wu EY, Manohar R, Miller C, Regalado SG, Loffredo FS, Pancoast JR, et al. Restoring systemic GDF11 levels reverses age-related dysfunction in mouse skeletal muscle. *Science*. 2014;344(6184):649-52.
- 51. Ibebunjo C, Chick JM, Kendall T, Eash JK, Li C, Zhang Y, Vickers C, Wu Z, Clarke BA, Shi J, et al. Genomic and proteomic profiling reveals reduced mitochondrial function and disruption of the neuromuscular junction driving rat sarcopenia. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2013;33(2):194-212.

- 52. Egerman MA, Cadena SM, Gilbert JA, Meyer A, Nelson HN, Swalley SE, Mallozzi C, Jacobi C, Jennings LL, Clay I, et al. GDF11 Increases with Age and Inhibits Skeletal Muscle Regeneration. *Cell Metab.* 2015;22(1):164-74.
- 53. Bian A, Neyra JA, Zhan M, and Hu MC. Klotho, stem cells, and aging. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2015;10(1233-43.
- 54. Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, Ohyama Y, Kurabayashi M, Kaname T, Kume E, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature*. 1997;390(6655):45-51.
- 55. Kuro-o M. Klotho in health and disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. 2012;21(4):362-8.
- 56. Manya H, Akasaka-Manya K, and Endo T. Klotho protein deficiency and aging. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2010;10 Suppl 1(S80-7.
- 57. Xiao NM, Zhang YM, Zheng Q, and Gu J. Klotho is a serum factor related to human aging. *Chin Med J (Engl).* 2004;117(5):742-7.
- 58. Liu H, Fergusson MM, Castilho RM, Liu J, Cao L, Chen J, Malide D, Rovira, II, Schimel D, Kuo CJ, et al. Augmented Wnt signaling in a mammalian model of accelerated aging. *Science*. 2007;317(5839):803-6.
- 59. Fry CS, Lee JD, Mula J, Kirby TJ, Jackson JR, Liu F, Yang L, Mendias CL, Dupont-Versteegden EE, McCarthy JJ, et al. Inducible depletion of satellite cells in adult, sedentary mice impairs muscle regenerative capacity without affecting sarcopenia. *Nat Med.* 2015;21(1):76-80.
- 60. Campisi J, Andersen JK, Kapahi P, and Melov S. Cellular senescence: a link between cancer and age-related degenerative disease? *Semin Cancer Biol.* 2011;21(6):354-9.
- 61. Campisi J, and Robert L. Cell senescence: role in aging and age-related diseases. *Interdiscip Top Gerontol.* 2014;39(45-61.
- 62. Tian XL, and Li Y. Endothelial cell senescence and age-related vascular diseases. *J Genet Genomics*. 2014;41(9):485-95.

- 63. Olivieri F, Recchioni R, Marcheselli F, Abbatecola AM, Santini G, Borghetti G, Antonicelli R, and Procopio AD. Cellular senescence in cardiovascular diseases: potential agerelated mechanisms and implications for treatment. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2013;19(9):1710-9.
- 64. Zhu Y, Armstrong JL, Tchkonia T, and Kirkland JL. Cellular senescence and the senescent secretory phenotype in age-related chronic diseases. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2014;17(4):324-8.
- 65. Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Gurnani P, Nandi A, Kurosu H, Miyoshi M, Ogawa Y, Castrillon DH, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of oxidative stress by the anti-aging hormone klotho. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2005;280(45):38029-34.
- 66. Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, McGuinness OP, Chikuda H, Yamaguchi M, Kawaguchi H, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. *Science*. 2005;309(5742):1829-33.
- 67. Doi S, Zou Y, Togao O, Pastor JV, John GB, Wang L, Shiizaki K, Gotschall R, Schiavi S, Yorioka N, et al. Klotho inhibits transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) signaling and suppresses renal fibrosis and cancer metastasis in mice. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2011;286(10):8655-65.
- 68. Arthur ST, and Cooley ID. The effect of physiological stimuli on sarcopenia; impact of Notch and Wnt signaling on impaired aged skeletal muscle repair. *International journal of biological sciences*. 2012;8(5):731-60.
- 69. Smythe GM, Shavlakadze T, Roberts P, Davies MJ, McGeachie JK, and Grounds MD. Age influences the early events of skeletal muscle regeneration: studies of whole muscle grafts transplanted between young (8 weeks) and old (13-21 months) mice. *Exp Gerontol.* 2008;43(6):550-62.
- 70. Pedersen BK, and Fischer CP. Beneficial health effects of exercise--the role of IL-6 as a myokine. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 2007;28(4):152-6.
- 71. Shefer G, Rauner G, Yablonka-Reuveni Z, and Benayahu D. Reduced satellite cell numbers and myogenic capacity in aging can be alleviated by endurance exercise. *PloS one*. 2010;5(10):e13307.
- 72. Verney J, Kadi F, Charifi N, Feasson L, Saafi MA, Castells J, Piehl-Aulin K, and Denis C. Effects of combined lower body endurance and upper body resistance training on the satellite cell pool in elderly subjects. *Muscle & nerve*. 2008;38(3):1147-54.

- 73. Kosek DJ, Kim JS, Petrella JK, Cross JM, and Bamman MM. Efficacy of 3 days/wk resistance training on myofiber hypertrophy and myogenic mechanisms in young vs. older adults. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2006;101(2):531-44.
- 74. Mackey AL, Esmarck B, Kadi F, Koskinen SO, Kongsgaard M, Sylvestersen A, Hansen JJ, Larsen G, and Kjaer M. Enhanced satellite cell proliferation with resistance training in elderly men and women. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*. 2007;17(1):34-42.
- 75. Kadi F, Schjerling P, Andersen LL, Charifi N, Madsen JL, Christensen LR, and Andersen JL. The effects of heavy resistance training and detraining on satellite cells in human skeletal muscles. *The Journal of physiology*. 2004;558(Pt 3):1005-12.
- 76. Dreyer HC, Blanco CE, Sattler FR, Schroeder ET, and Wiswell RA. Satellite cell numbers in young and older men 24 hours after eccentric exercise. *Muscle & nerve*. 2006;33(2):242-53.
- 77. Kanno S, Oda N, Abe M, Saito S, Hori K, Handa Y, Tabayashi K, and Sato Y. Establishment of a simple and practical procedure applicable to therapeutic angiogenesis. *Circulation*. 1999;99(20):2682-7.
- 78. Hang J, Kong L, Gu JW, and Adair TH. VEGF gene expression is upregulated in electrically stimulated rat skeletal muscle. *The American journal of physiology*. 1995;269(5 Pt 2):H1827-31.
- 79. Crameri RM, Langberg H, Magnusson P, Jensen CH, Schroder HD, Olesen JL, Suetta C, Teisner B, and Kjaer M. Changes in satellite cells in human skeletal muscle after a single bout of high intensity exercise. *The Journal of physiology*. 2004;558(Pt 1):333-40.
- 80. Lieber RL, Schmitz MC, Mishra DK, and Friden J. Contractile and cellular remodeling in rabbit skeletal muscle after cyclic eccentric contractions. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1994;77(4):1926-34.
- 81. Ishido M, Uda M, Masuhara M, and Kami K. Alterations of M-cadherin, neural cell adhesion molecule and beta-catenin expression in satellite cells during overload-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Acta physiologica*. 2006;187(3):407-18.
- 82. Fujimaki S, Machida M, Wakabayashi T, Asashima M, Takemasa T, and Kuwabara T. Functional Overload Enhances Satellite Cell Properties in Skeletal Muscle. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016;2016(7619418.

- 83. Sakamoto K, Arnolds DE, Ekberg I, Thorell A, and Goodyear LJ. Exercise regulates Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3 activities in human skeletal muscle. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2004;319(2):419-25.
- 84. Fujimaki S, Hidaka R, Asashima M, Takemasa T, and Kuwabara T. Wnt protein-mediated satellite cell conversion in adult and aged mice following voluntary wheel running. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2014;289(11):7399-412.
- 85. Avin KG, Coen PM, Huang W, Stolz DB, Sowa GA, Dube JJ, Goodpaster BH, O'Doherty RM, and Ambrosio F. Skeletal muscle as a regulator of the longevity protein, Klotho. *Front Physiol.* 2014;5(189.
- 86. Semba RD, Cappola AR, Sun K, Bandinelli S, Dalal M, Crasto C, Guralnik JM, and Ferrucci L. Relationship of low plasma klotho with poor grip strength in older community-dwelling adults: the InCHIANTI study. *European journal of applied physiology*. 2012;112(4):1215-20.
- 87. Maffiuletti NA, Minetto MA, Farina D, and Bottinelli R. Electrical stimulation for neuromuscular testing and training: state-of-the art and unresolved issues. *European journal of applied physiology*. 2011;111(10):2391-7.
- 88. Guo BS, Cheung KK, Yeung SS, Zhang BT, and Yeung EW. Electrical stimulation influences satellite cell proliferation and apoptosis in unloading-induced muscle atrophy in mice. *PloS one*. 2012;7(1):e30348.
- 89. Kadi F, Charifi N, Denis C, Lexell J, Andersen JL, Schjerling P, Olsen S, and Kjaer M. The behaviour of satellite cells in response to exercise: what have we learned from human studies? *Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology*. 2005;451(2):319-27.
- 90. Ambrosio F, Kadi F, Lexell J, Fitzgerald GK, Boninger ML, and Huard J. The effect of muscle loading on skeletal muscle regenerative potential: an update of current research findings relating to aging and neuromuscular pathology. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation / Association of Academic Physiatrists.* 2009;88(2):145-55.
- 91. Putman CT, Dusterhoft S, and Pette D. Changes in satellite cell content and myosin isoforms in low-frequency-stimulated fast muscle of hypothyroid rat. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1999;86(1):40-51.

- 92. Caggiano E, Emrey T, Shirley S, and Craik RL. Effects of electrical stimulation or voluntary contraction for strengthening the quadriceps femoris muscles in an aged male population. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy.* 1994;20(1):22-8.
- 93. Kern H, Barberi L, Lofler S, Sbardella S, Burggraf S, Fruhmann H, Carraro U, Mosole S, Sarabon N, Vogelauer M, et al. Electrical stimulation counteracts muscle decline in seniors. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*. 2014;6(189.
- 94. Gordon T, and Pattullo MC. Plasticity of muscle fiber and motor unit types. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 1993;21(331-62.
- 95. Pette D. Training effects on the contractile apparatus. *Acta Physiol Scand*. 1998;162(3):367-76.
- 96. Pette D, and Dusterhoft S. Altered gene expression in fast-twitch muscle induced by chronic low-frequency stimulation. *The American journal of physiology*. 1992;262(3 Pt 2):R333-8.
- 97. Pette D, and Vrbova G. Neural control of phenotypic expression in mammalian muscle fibers. *Muscle & nerve*. 1985;8(8):676-89.
- 98. Sherrington C, and Lord SR. Increased prevalence of fall risk factors in older people following hip fracture. *Gerontology*. 1998;44(6):340-4.
- 99. Visser M, Harris TB, Fox KM, Hawkes W, Hebel JR, Yahiro JY, Michael R, Zimmerman SI, and Magaziner J. Change in muscle mass and muscle strength after a hip fracture: relationship to mobility recovery. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences.* 2000;55(8):M434-40.
- 100. Kawaguchi Y, Matsui H, and Tsuji H. Back muscle injury after posterior lumbar spine surgery. Part 2: Histologic and histochemical analyses in humans. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 1994;19(22):2598-602.
- 101. Kawaguchi Y, Matsui H, and Tsuji H. Back muscle injury after posterior lumbar spine surgery. A histologic and enzymatic analysis. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 1996;21(8):941-4.
- 102. Loffredo FS, Steinhauser ML, Jay SM, Gannon J, Pancoast JR, Yalamanchi P, Sinha M, Dall'Osso C, Khong D, Shadrach JL, et al. Growth differentiation factor 11 is a circulating factor that reverses age-related cardiac hypertrophy. *Cell*. 2013;153(4):828-39.

- 103. Brooks SV, and Faulkner JA. Contraction-induced injury: recovery of skeletal muscles in young and old mice. *The American journal of physiology*. 1990;258(3 Pt 1):C436-42.
- 104. Scicchitano BM, Rizzuto E, and Musaro A. Counteracting muscle wasting in aging and neuromuscular diseases: the critical role of IGF-1. *Aging (Albany NY)*. 2009;1(5):451-7.
- 105. Vinciguerra M, Musaro A, and Rosenthal N. Regulation of muscle atrophy in aging and disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2010;694(211-33.
- 106. Brooks SV, and Faulkner JA. The magnitude of the initial injury induced by stretches of maximally activated muscle fibres of mice and rats increases in old age. *The Journal of physiology*. 1996;497 (Pt 2)(573-80.
- 107. Hawke TJ, and Garry DJ. Myogenic satellite cells: physiology to molecular biology. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2001;91(2):534-51.
- 108. Garcia-Prat L, Sousa-Victor P, and Munoz-Canoves P. Functional dysregulation of stem cells during aging: a focus on skeletal muscle stem cells. *FEBS J.* 2013;280(17):4051-62.
- 109. Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, and Rando TA. Increased Wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. *Science317(5839):807-10.* 2007.
- 110. Ambrosio F, Ferrari RJ, Distefano G, Plassmeyer JM, Carvell GE, Deasy BM, Boninger ML, Fitzgerald GK, and Huard J. The synergistic effect of treadmill running on stem-cell transplantation to heal injured skeletal muscle. *Tissue engineering Part A*. 2010;16(3):839-49.
- 111. Distefano G, Ferrari RJ, Weiss C, Deasy BM, Boninger ML, Fitzgerald GK, Huard J, and Ambrosio F. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation as a method to maximize the beneficial effects of muscle stem cells transplanted into dystrophic skeletal muscle. *PloS one*. 2013;8(3):e54922.
- 112. Kadi F, Charifi N, Denis C, Lexell J, Andersen JL, Schjerling P, Olsen S, and Kjaer M. The behaviour of satellite cells in response to exercise: what have we learned from human studies?. [Review] [54 refs]. *Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology451(2):319-27.* 2005.
- 113. Ambrosio F, Fitzgerald GK, Ferrari R, Distefano G, and Carvell G. A murine model of muscle training by neuromuscular electrical stimulation. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE*. 201263):e3914.

- 114. Delitto A, and Snyder-Mackler L. Muscle stimulators. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*. 1990;71(9):711-2.
- 115. Delitto A, and Snyder-Mackler L. Two theories of muscle strength augmentation using percutaneous electrical stimulation. *Physical therapy*. 1990;70(3):158-64.
- 116. Auda-Boucher G, Rouaud T, Lafoux A, Levitsky D, Huchet-Cadiou C, Feron M, Guevel L, Talon S, Fontaine-Perus J, and Gardahaut MF. Fetal muscle-derived cells can repair dystrophic muscles in mdx mice. *Exp Cell Res.* 2007;313(5):997-1007.
- 117. Ambrosio F, Brown E, Stolz D, Ferrari R, Goodpaster B, Deasy B, Distefano G, Roperti A, Cheikhi A, Garciafigueroa Y, et al. Arsenic induces sustained impairment of skeletal muscle and muscle progenitor cell ultrastructure and bioenergetics. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 2014;74(64-73.
- 118. Rando TA, and Blau HM. Primary mouse myoblast purification, characterization, and transplantation for cell-mediated gene therapy. *The Journal of cell biology*. 1994;125(6):1275-87.
- 119. Gharaibeh B, Lu A, Tebbets J, Zheng B, Feduska J, Crisan M, Peault B, Cummins J, and Huard J. Isolation of a slowly adhering cell fraction containing stem cells from murine skeletal muscle by the preplate technique. *Nature protocols*. 2008;3(9):1501-9.
- 120. Debacq-Chainiaux F, Erusalimsky JD, Campisi J, and Toussaint O. Protocols to detect senescence-associated beta-galactosidase (SA-betagal) activity, a biomarker of senescent cells in culture and in vivo. *Nature protocols*. 2009;4(12):1798-806.
- 121. Carlson ME, and Conboy IM. Loss of stem cell regenerative capacity within aged niches. *Aging Cell*. 2007;6(3):371-82.
- 122. Deasy BM, Jankowski RJ, Payne TR, Cao B, Goff JP, Greenberger JS, and Huard J. Modeling stem cell population growth: incorporating terms for proliferative heterogeneity. *Stem cells*. 2003;21(5):536-45.
- 123. Cosgrove BD, Gilbert PM, Porpiglia E, Mourkioti F, Lee SP, Corbel SY, Llewellyn ME, Delp SL, and Blau HM. Rejuvenation of the muscle stem cell population restores strength to injured aged muscles. *Nature medicine*. 2014;20(3):255-64.

- 124. Huang CC, Chiang WD, Huang WC, Huang CY, Hsu MC, and Lin WT. Hepatoprotective Effects of Swimming Exercise against D-Galactose-Induced Senescence Rat Model. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2013;2013(275431.
- 125. Werner C, Hanhoun M, Widmann T, Kazakov A, Semenov A, Poss J, Bauersachs J, Thum T, Pfreundschuh M, Muller P, et al. Effects of physical exercise on myocardial telomere-regulating proteins, survival pathways, and apoptosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2008;52(6):470-82.
- 126. Zhou L, Li Y, Zhou D, Tan RJ, Liu YCINJASNA, and Pmid. Loss of Klotho contributes to kidney injury by derepression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2013;24(5):771-85.
- 127. Gopinath SD, and Rando TA. Stem cell review series: aging of the skeletal muscle stem cell niche. *Aging Cell*. 2008;7(4):590-8.
- 128. Wagers AJ, and Conboy IM. Cellular and molecular signatures of muscle regeneration: current concepts and controversies in adult myogenesis. *Cell*. 2005;122(5):659-67.
- 129. Shefer G, Van de Mark DP, Richardson JB, and Yablonka-Reuveni Z. Satellite-cell pool size does matter: defining the myogenic potency of aging skeletal muscle. *Developmental biology*. 2006;294(1):50-66.
- 130. Cezar CA, and Mooney DJ. Biomaterial-based delivery for skeletal muscle repair. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2015;84(188-97.
- 131. Fujiya H, Ogura Y, Ohno Y, Goto A, Nakamura A, Ohashi K, Uematsu D, Aoki H, Musha H, and Goto K. Microcurrent electrical neuromuscular stimulation facilitates regeneration of injured skeletal muscle in mice. *J Sports Sci Med.* 2015;14(2):297-303.
- 132. Zampieri S, Mosole S, Lofler S, Fruhmann H, Burggraf S, Cvecka J, Hamar D, Sedliak M, Tirptakova V, Sarabon N, et al. Physical Exercise in Aging: Nine Weeks of Leg Press or Electrical Stimulation Training in 70 Years Old Sedentary Elderly People. *Eur J Transl Myol.* 2015;25(4):237-42.
- 133. Murphy M, and Kardon G. Origin of vertebrate limb muscle: the role of progenitor and myoblast populations. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* 2011;96(1-32.
- 134. Zhou L, Li Y, Zhou D, Tan RJ, and Liu Y. Loss of Klotho contributes to kidney injury by derepression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2013;24(5):771-85.

- 135. Ikushima M, Rakugi H, Ishikawa K, Maekawa Y, Yamamoto K, Ohta J, Chihara Y, Kida I, and Ogihara T. Anti-apoptotic and anti-senescence effects of Klotho on vascular endothelial cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2006;339(3):827-32.
- 136. Maekawa Y, Ohishi M, Ikushima M, Yamamoto K, Yasuda O, Oguro R, Yamamoto-Hanasaki H, Tatara Y, Takeya Y, and Rakugi H. Klotho protein diminishes endothelial apoptosis and senescence via a mitogen-activated kinase pathway. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2011;11(4):510-6.
- 137. Toft AD, Jensen LB, Bruunsgaard H, Ibfelt T, Halkjaer-Kristensen J, Febbraio M, and Pedersen BK. Cytokine response to eccentric exercise in young and elderly humans. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2002;283(1):C289-95.
- 138. Pedersen BK, Akerstrom TC, Nielsen AR, and Fischer CP. Role of myokines in exercise and metabolism. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2007;103(3):1093-8.
- 139. Pedersen BK, Bruunsgaard H, Ostrowski K, Krabbe K, Hansen H, Krzywkowski K, Toft A, Sondergaard SR, Petersen EW, Ibfelt T, et al. Cytokines in aging and exercise. *Int J Sports Med.* 2000;21 Suppl 1(S4-9.
- 140. Ost M, Coleman V, Kasch J, and Klaus S. Regulation of myokine expression: Role of exercise and cellular stress. *Free radical biology & medicine*. 2016.
- 141. Ferraro E, Giammarioli AM, Chiandotto S, Spoletini I, and Rosano G. Exercise-induced skeletal muscle remodeling and metabolic adaptation: redox signaling and role of autophagy. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2014;21(1):154-76.
- 142. Pedersen BK, and Febbraio M. Muscle-derived interleukin-6--a possible link between skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, liver, and brain. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2005;19(5):371-6.
- 143. Kelly M, Keller C, Avilucea PR, Keller P, Luo Z, Xiang X, Giralt M, Hidalgo J, Saha AK, Pedersen BK, et al. AMPK activity is diminished in tissues of IL-6 knockout mice: the effect of exercise. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2004;320(2):449-54.
- 144. Deasy BM, Lu A, Tebbets JC, Feduska JM, Schugar RC, Pollett JB, Sun B, Urish KL, Gharaibeh BM, Cao B, et al. A role for cell sex in stem cell-mediated skeletal muscle regeneration: female cells have higher muscle regeneration efficiency. *The Journal of cell biology*. 2007;177(1):73-86.

- 145. Armstrong DD, and Esser KA. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling activates growth-control genes during overload-induced skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2005;289(4):C853-9.
- 146. Semba RD, Ferrucci L, Sun K, Simonsick E, Turner R, Miljkovic I, Harris T, Schwartz AV, Asao K, Kritchevsky S, et al. Low Plasma Klotho Concentrations and Decline of Knee Strength in Older Adults. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences.* 2016;71(1):103-8.
- 147. Ruiz-Romero C, and Blanco FJ. Proteomics role in the search for improved diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2010;18(4):500-9.
- 148. Recchioni R, Marcheselli F, Olivieri F, Ricci S, Procopio AD, and Antonicelli R. Conventional and novel diagnostic biomarkers of acute myocardial infarction: a promising role for circulating microRNAs. *Biomarkers*. 2013;18(7):547-58.
- 149. Yamaza T, Miura Y, Akiyama K, Bi Y, Sonoyama W, Gronthos S, Chen W, Le A, and Shi S. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated ectopic hematopoiesis alleviates aging-related phenotype in immunocompromised mice. *Blood.* 2009;113(11):2595-604.
- 150. Dubal DB, Yokoyama JS, Zhu L, Broestl L, Worden K, Wang D, Sturm VE, Kim D, Klein E, Yu GQ, et al. Life extension factor klotho enhances cognition. *Cell Rep.* 2014;7(4):1065-76.
- 151. Dubal DB, Zhu L, Sanchez PE, Worden K, Broestl L, Johnson E, Ho K, Yu GQ, Kim D, Betourne A, et al. Life extension factor klotho prevents mortality and enhances cognition in hAPP transgenic mice. *J Neurosci.* 2015;35(6):2358-71.
- 152. Kohrt WM, Malley MT, Coggan AR, Spina RJ, Ogawa T, Ehsani AA, Bourey RE, Martin WH, 3rd, and Holloszy JO. Effects of gender, age, and fitness level on response of VO2max to training in 60-71 yr olds. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1991;71(5):2004-11.
- 153. Hagberg JM, Graves JE, Limacher M, Woods DR, Leggett SH, Cononie C, Gruber JJ, and Pollock ML. Cardiovascular responses of 70- to 79-yr-old men and women to exercise training. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1989;66(6):2589-94.
- 154. Lim K, Lu TS, Molostvov G, Lee C, Lam FT, Zehnder D, and Hsiao LL. Vascular Klotho deficiency potentiates the development of human artery calcification and mediates resistance to fibroblast growth factor 23. *Circulation*. 2012;125(18):2243-55.

- 155. Fukino K, Suzuki T, Saito Y, Shindo T, Amaki T, Kurabayashi M, and Nagai R. Regulation of angiogenesis by the aging suppressor gene klotho. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2002;293(1):332-7.
- 156. Nagai R, Saito Y, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, Nakamura T, Kurabayashi M, and Kuroo M. Endothelial dysfunction in the klotho mouse and downregulation of klotho gene expression in various animal models of vascular and metabolic diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2000;57(5):738-46.
- 157. Saito Y, Yamagishi T, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, Matsumura Y, Masuda H, Kurabayashi M, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho protein protects against endothelial dysfunction. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1998;248(2):324-9.